# MAXIMUM NUMBER OF CYCLES IN GRAPHS AND MULTIGRAPHS

by

Andrii Arman

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of Manitoba in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Mathematics

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg

Copyright  $\bigodot$  2018 by Andrii Arman

#### UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

#### DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "Maximum number of cycles in graphs and multigraphs" by Andrii Arman in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dated: \_\_\_\_\_

Supervisor:

D. Gunderson

Readers:

M. Doob

W. Kocay

O. Pikhurko

#### UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

Date:	May 2018
Author:	Andrii Arman
Title:	Maximum number of cycles in graphs and multigraphs
Department:	Mathematics
Degree:	Ph.D.
Convocation:	October
Year:	2018

Permission is herewith granted to University of Manitoba to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions.

Signature of Author

THE AUTHOR RESERVES OTHER PUBLICATION RIGHTS, AND NEITHER THE THESIS NOR EXTENSIVE EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT THE AUTHOR'S WRITTEN PERMISSION.

THE AUTHOR ATTESTS THAT PERMISSION HAS BEEN OBTAINED FOR THE USE OF ANY COPYRIGHTED MATERIAL APPEARING IN THIS THESIS (OTHER THAN BRIEF EXCERPTS REQUIRING ONLY PROPER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT IN SCHOLARLY WRITING) AND THAT ALL SUCH USE IS CLEARLY ACKNOWLEDGED.

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor Prof. David Gunderson for continuous support during my studies, for motivation, immense knowledge and for extreme patience while working with me.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank my thesis committee: Prof. Michael Doob, Prof. William Kocay and Prof. Oleg Pikhurko for their valuable comments and for scrupulous attention to the details.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Karen Gunderson and Prof. Robert Craigen for encouraging conversations. A special thanks to my friend and co-author Sergei Tsaturian for numerous hours spent discussing mathematics.

I am also grateful to the Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Graduate studies of University of Manitoba and Government of Manitoba for financial support.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my friends and family, my parents for cultivating love for mathematics and my wife for supporting me throughout my studies and my life in general.

# Abstract

In this thesis a problem of determining the maximum number of cycles for the following classes of graphs is considered: triangle-free graphs;  $K_r$ -free graphs; graphs with m edges; graphs with n vertices and m edges; multigraphs with m edges and multigraphs with n vertices and m edges.

# Contents

1	1 Introduction		1
	1.1	Types of problems considered	1
	1.2	Structure of the thesis	5
2	Bas	ic notation and definitions	8
	2.1	Basic Notation	8
	2.2	Stirling approximation and relative inequalities	10
3	Cou	unting cycles in triangle-free graphs	11
	3.1	Motivating question	11
	3.2	Preliminaries and estimate on the number of cycles in $T(n,2)$	14
	3.3	Counting cycles through a vertex or an edge $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	21
	3.4	Main theorems	29
	3.5	Concluding remarks	34
4	Cοι	unting cycles in a graph with given number of edges	36

	4.1	Overview of the results	36
	4.2	Maximal and minimal degree of graphs with $C(m)$ cycles	40
	4.3	Counting Lemma	51
	4.4	Upper bound for number of cycles in graphs or multigraphs	53
	4.5	Example of a graph with $(1.37)^m$ cycles	60
	4.6	Lower bound for the number of cycles with given number of vertices	
		and edges	63
	4.7	Maximum number of cycles in multigraphs	65
	4.8	Concluding remarks	71
<b>5</b>	Cοι	unting cycles in $K_r$ -free graphs	73
	5.1	Motivation	73
	5.2	Estimate on the number of cycles in a Turán graph	75
	5.3	Maximum number of cycles in a $K_r$ -free graph	86
	5.4	Concluding remarks	94
6	Fut	ure work and extensions	95
Bi	Bibliography		96

# List of Figures

4.1	Constructing the graph $H$	45
4.2	Case 2. Constructing the graph $H$	48
4.3	Case 3. Constructing the graph $H$	49
4.4	The graph $H_{12}$	61
4.5	$G_{12}$ with 25 vertices and 61 edges	62
4.6	Constructing the multigraph $H$	69

## Chapter 1

# Introduction

#### 1.1 Types of problems considered

The main theme of this thesis is determining the maximum number of cycles in a graph with different restrictions. My interest in this topic was initiated by my academic supervisor David Gunderson in January 2014, in the begining of my Ph.D. program. Durocher, Gunderson, Li and Skala [20] were interested in the question of how many cycles can a triangle-free graph have (this question was motivated by the study of path-finding algorithms). The authors of [20] posed the following conjecture.

**Conjecture 1.1.1** (Durocher-Gunderson-Li-Skala, 2015 [20]). For each  $n \ge 4$ , the balanced complete bipartite graph  $K_{\lceil n/2 \rceil, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$  contains more cycles than any other *n*-vertex triangle-free graph.

Gunderson, Tsaturian and I [10] were able to prove this conjecture for the case

 $n \ge 141$  (see Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 here). We also posed the following conjecture and question.

**Conjecture 1.1.2** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). For any k > 1, if an *n*-vertex  $C_{2k+1}$ -free graph has the maximum number of cycles, then  $G = K_{\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil, \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}$ .

Question 1.1.3 (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). For  $k \ge 4$ , what is the maximum number of cycles in a  $K_k$ -free graph on n vertices? Could it be that the only cycle-maximal  $K_k$ -free graphs are Turán graphs?

Miklós Simonovits [44] suggested that the Regularity Lemma [46] might be used to answer Question 1.1.3 or prove Conjecture 1.1.2, but at the time we could not overcome certain technical difficulties of such an approach (see Section 5.1 for more details). In January 2014, after a preprint of the paper [10] appeared on arXiv.org, we received an email from Alex Scott [41], in which he informed us that he and a student of his could (by using the Regularity Lemma) prove Conjecture 1.1.2 and answer affirmatively Question 1.1.3 for n large enough. However, their results were not published at the time of the preparation of this thesis.

In February 2016, after a talk in the combinatorics seminar at University of Manitoba, Dr. Karen Gunderson [25] asked us if Sergei Tsaturian and I had considered the question of determining the maximum number of cycles in a graph with a given density, which motivated me and Tsaturian to investigate the following two questions. For any graph G, let C(G) denote the number of cycles in G. **Question 1.1.4.** For  $m \ge 3$  let C(m) denote the maximum number of cycles in any graph with m edges. What is C(m) and for which graphs G with m edges does C(G) = C(m)?

Question 1.1.5. Among all graphs G with a fixed number of vertices and a fixed number of edges what is the maximum of C(G)? Which graphs achieve the maximum?

Tsaturian and I were not able to completely answer either of those two questions, but we did provide [9] useful estimates for the maximum number of cycles in each case (these estimates are also presented in Chapter 4 of this thesis). For instance, we proved that if G is a graph with m edges that has the maximal number of cycles and C(G) is the number of cycles in G, then

$$1.37^m \le C(G) \le 1.443^m.$$

Also, Tsaturian and I [9] proved that if G is a graph with the maximum number of cycles among all graphs with n vertices and average degree d = d(n), such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) = \infty$ , then for n large enough,

$$\left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n (1+o(1))^n \le C(G) \le (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^n.$$

Tsaturian and I could not answer Question 1.1.4 nor Question 1.1.5, and so were motivated to reconsider the main tool used to obtain an upper bounds for the number of cycles (technical Lemma 4.3.1). We came to the conclusion that even if this tool is not very precise in estimating number of cycles in a graph, it is a very precise tool in estimating the number of cycles in a multigraph. We were able to prove (Theorem 4.7.1 here) that for a multigraph G that has the maximum number of cycles among all of the multigraphs with  $n \ge 2$  vertices and  $m \ge 3$  edges and for  $s = \lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor$ ,  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - s$ 

$$\frac{8}{27}s(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1} \le C(G) \le \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1} , \text{ if } \frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3;$$
$$4(\sqrt[3]{3})^{m-4} \le C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m , \text{ if } \frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3.$$

Also, Tsaturian and I [9] were able to prove (Theorems 4.2.3, 4.2.4, 4.7.2 here) that if G is a graph (or a multigraph) with m edges and the maximum number of cycles, then the maximal degree of G is at most eleven and the minimal degree of G is at least three.

After receiving the email from Alex Scott [41], I was trying to answer Question 1.1.3 affirmatively without using the Regularity Lemma [46]. Lemma 4.3.1 proved to be a useful tool in estimating the number of cycles in a graph, so I used it to approach Question 1.1.3. Recall, that T(n, r) is a Turán graph – complete *r*-partite graph on *n* vertices with sizes of partite sets differing by at most one, and t(n, r) is the number of edges in T(n, r). I was able to prove (Theorem 5.3.2 here) that for *n* large enough, any  $K_{r+1}$ -free graph *G* with *n* vertices and  $m \leq t(n, r) - 2r^4n \log n$ edges has fewer cycles than T(n, r).

Also, I proved (Theorems 5.2.2, 5.2.6 here and [8]) estimates on the number of

cycles in the Turán graph T(n,r), namely that there exists a constant c such that

$$\frac{c}{n^{\frac{2}{3}r^2 - \frac{r}{2} + 1}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n \le C(T(n,r)) \le \left(\frac{e^2n}{r}\right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n$$

Finally, I want to note that it is possible to estimate the number of cycles in a graph G by using an adjacency matrix of G. If A is a square matrix then the trace of A is defined to be the sum of the diagonal entries of A and is denoted by tr(A). Perepechko and Voropaev [37] proved that if A is an adjacency matrix of a graph G, and for every subset S of [n],  $A_S$  is the submatrix of a matrix A with the set S of rows and columns deleted and for any  $3 \le k \le n$ ,  $c_k$  is the number of cycles of length k in G, then

$$c_k = \frac{1}{2k} \sum_{i=2}^k (-1)^{k-i} \binom{n-i}{n-k} \sum_{|S|=n-i} \operatorname{tr}(A_S^k).$$

Hence, the following formula for the number of cycles in G holds:

$$C(G) = \sum_{k=3}^{n} \frac{1}{2k} \sum_{i=2}^{k} (-1)^{k-i} \binom{n-i}{n-k} \sum_{|S|=n-i} \operatorname{tr}(A_{S}^{k}).$$

I believe that this formula might be used to estimate the number of cycles in a  $K_r$ -free graph, or in a graph with m edges, but I was not able to use it for a question of maximizing the number of cycles.

#### **1.2** Structure of the thesis

Chapter 2 contains basic notation and Chapters 3, 4, 5 contain original research. The main problem considered in this thesis is the problem of estimating the number of cycles in graphs with different restrictions.

In Chapter 3, the question of determining the maximum number of cycles in a triangle-free graph on n vertices is considered. All of the results in Chapter 3 are present in the paper of Arman, Gunderson, Tsaturian [10]. The main result of Chapter 3, Theorem 3.4.1, establishes the existence of  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  such that for any  $n \ge n_0$ , the only triangle-free graph on n vertices with the largest number of cycles is  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$ .

In Chapter 4, the question of determining the maximum number of cycles in a graph with a given number of edges is considered. Most of the results presented in Chapter 4 are also present in the paper of Arman and Tsaturian [9]. Some of other results in Chapter 4 were obtained individually (as noted). The main result of Chapter 4 states that for m large enough,

$$1.37^m \le C(m) \le 1.443^m.$$

In Chapter 5, the question of determining the maximum number of cycles in an H-free graph G on n vertices is considered. All of the results in Chapter 5 are original individual research. In Section 5.2, the question of estimating the number of cycles in a Turán graph is considered. The main result of Section 5.2 is Theorem 5.2.6, which states that for n large enough

$$C(T(n,r)) \ge \frac{c}{n^{\frac{2}{3}r^2 - \frac{r}{2} + 1}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n.$$

In Section 5.3 an estimate on the number of cycles in a  $K_r$ -free graph is given and

the main result of Section 5.3 is Theorem 5.3.2, which states that for n large enough, any  $K_{r+1}$ -free graph G with n vertices and  $m \leq t(n,r) - 2r^4 n \ln n$  edges,

$$C(G) < C(T(n,r)).$$

### Chapter 2

## **Basic notation and definitions**

#### 2.1 Basic Notation

In this thesis notation mostly follows Bollobás' book [13]. For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , let  $[k] = \{i \in \mathbb{Z}; 1 \leq i \leq k\}$ , and for a set S, denote  $[S]^k = \{T \subseteq S : |T| = k\}$ . For a set V, let  $[V]^2 = \{\{x, y\} : x, y \in V, x \neq y\}$  be the collection of all unordered pairs of the elements of V. A graph G is an ordered pair (V, E), where  $V \neq \emptyset$  and  $E \subseteq [V]^2$ . Elements of V are called vertices and elements of E are called edges. An edge  $\{x, y\} \in E(G)$  can be denoted by xy. The neighbourhood of a vertex  $v \in V(G)$  is  $N_G(x) = \{y \in V(G) : xy \in E(G)\}$ , and the degree of a vertex x is  $\deg_G(x) = |N(x)|$ . When it is clear what G is, the subscript G can be deleted, writing simply N(x) and  $\deg(x)$ . If  $Y \subset V(G)$ , the subgraph of G induced by  $V(G) \setminus Y$  is denoted by  $G \setminus Y$ . Denote

the average degree of a graph G by d(G), the maximum degree by  $\Delta(G)$ , and the minimum degree by  $\delta(G)$ . The complete graph on n vertices is denoted by  $K_n$  (where  $E = [V]^2$ ).

A graph G = (V, E) is called bipartite if and only if there is a partition  $V = A \cup B$ so that  $E \subset \{\{x, y\} : x \in A, y \in B\}$ ; if  $E = \{\{x, y\} : x \in A, y \in B\}$ , then G is called the complete bipartite graph on partite sets A and B, denoted by  $G = K_{|A|,|B|}$ . The balanced complete bipartite graph on n vertices is  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$  (this graph is also the Turán graph T(n, 2), see below). A cycle on m vertices is denoted by  $C_m$ . The complement of a graph G is denoted by  $\overline{G}$ .

For  $n, r \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  define the Turán graph T(n, r) to be the graph with n vertices, such that V(T(n, r)) can be partitioned into r sets  $V_1, V_2, \ldots, V_r$  in a way such that for any  $i \neq j$ ,  $||V_i| - |V_j|| \leq 1$  and so that edge set

$$E(T(n,r)) = \{\{x, y\} : x \in V_i, y \in V_j, i \neq j\}.$$

Define t(n,r) = |E(T(n,r))| and let  $\ell \equiv n \mod r$ , then

$$t(n,r) = \frac{n^2}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{r}\right) - \frac{\ell(r-\ell)}{2r}$$

For any graph G let C(G) be the number of undirected cycles in G.

Also, the common notations  $o(n), \Omega(n)$  are used: a function f(n) = o(n) if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{f(n)}{n} = 0$ ;  $f(n) = \Omega(n)$  if and only if  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} |\frac{f(n)}{n}| > 0$ .

# 2.2 Stirling approximation and relative inequalities

The number e is the base of the natural logarithm. Stirling's approximation formula says that as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$n! = (1 + o(1))\sqrt{2\pi n} \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n.$$
 (2.1)

In 1955, Robbins [40] proved the following approximation for factorials, valid for all  $n \ge 1$ :

$$e^{\frac{1}{12n+1}}\sqrt{2\pi n} \cdot \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n < n! < e^{\frac{1}{12n}}\sqrt{2\pi n} \cdot \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n.$$

The following consequence of Robbins' approximation is used (valid for all  $n \ge 2$ ):

$$\sqrt{2\pi n} \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n < n! < e \cdot \sqrt{n} \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n.$$
(2.2)

## Chapter 3

# Counting cycles in triangle-free graphs

#### 3.1 Motivating question

All graphs in this chapter are simple and undirected. All of the results presented in this chapter are taken from the paper of Arman, Gunderson and Tsaturian [10]. The research in this chapter was motivated by a paper of Durocher, Gunderson, Li and Skala [20], where the maximum number of cycles in a triangle-free graph was considered. Durocher, Gunderson, Li and Skala [20] posed the following conjecture:

**Conjecture 3.1.1** (Durocher-Gunderson-Li-Skala, 2015 [20]). For every  $n \ge 4$ , the balanced complete bipartite graph  $K_{\lceil n/2 \rceil, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$  contains more cycles than any other *n*-vertex triangle-free graph.

The authors of [20] confirmed Conjecture 3.1.1 when  $4 \le n \le 13$ , and made a progress toward this conjecture in general.

Conjecture 3.1.1 holds true for  $n \ge 141$  (see Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 below). Along the way some other results are proved that are of independent interest – *e.g.* estimates for the number of cycles in  $K_{\lceil n/2 \rceil, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$  (Theorem 3.2.4) and estimates on the number of hamiltonian cycles in a triangle-free graphs (Lemma 3.3.3).

Even though Conjecture 3.1.1 arose from a very specific problem in computing (see [15]), it can be considered significant in two areas of graph theory: counting cycles in graphs, and the structure of triangle-free graphs. In recent decades, bounds have been proved for the maximum number of cycles in various classes of graphs. Some of these classes include

- complete graphs [27],
- planar graphs [4, 5, 16],
- outerplaner graphs and series-parallel graphs [19],
- graphs with large maximum degree without a specified odd cycle [11],
- graphs with specified minimum degree [49],
- graphs with a specified cyclomatic number or number of edges [2, 21, 24, 31] (see also [33, Ch4, Ch10]),
- cubic graphs [3,17],

- graphs with fixed girth [36],
- k-connected graphs [32],
- hamiltonian graphs [38, 42, 49],
- hamiltonian graphs with a fixed number of edges [26],
- 2-factors of the de Bruijn graph [22],
- graphs with a cut-vertex [49],
- complements of trees [29, 39, 51],
- random graphs [47].

In some cases, (e.g., [11, 38]) the associated extremal graphs were found.

By Mantel's theorem [34], among graphs on n vertices, the triangle-free graph with the most number of edges is the balanced complete bipartite graph  $K_{\lceil n/2\rceil,\lfloor n/2\rfloor}$ . Since  $K_{\lceil n/2\rceil,\lfloor n/2\rfloor}$  is the triangle-free graph on n vertices with the most number of edges Conjecture 3.1.1 might seem reasonable, even though  $K_{\lceil n/2\rceil,\lfloor n/2\rfloor}$  contains no odd cycles.

# **3.2** Preliminaries and estimate on the number of cycles in T(n, 2)

The following shows that among all bipartite graphs, the balanced one has the most cycles.

**Lemma 3.2.1** (Durocher-Gunderson-Li-Skala, 2015 [20]). For  $n \ge 4$ , among all bipartite graphs on n vertices,  $K_{\lceil n/2 \rceil, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$  has the greatest number of cycles; that is,  $K_{\lceil n/2 \rceil, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$  is the unique cycle-maximal bipartite graph on n vertices.

So, to settle Conjecture 3.1.1, it is then sufficient to prove that a cycle-maximal triangle-free graph is bipartite. To this end, the following result might be essential:

**Theorem 3.2.2** (Andrásfai, 1964 [6]). Any triangle-free graph G on n vertices with  $\delta(G) > 2n/5$  is bipartite.

See also [7] for an English-language proof of Theorem 3.2.2 and related results. Theorem 3.2.2 is sharp because of  $C_5$  (or a blow-up of  $C_5$ ).

**Lemma 3.2.3** (Durocher-Gunderson-Li-Skala, 2015 [20]). For  $n \ge 4$ , the number of cycles in the balanced complete bipartite graph is

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = \sum_{k=2}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2k(\lfloor n/2 \rfloor - k)!(\lceil n/2 \rceil - k)!}.$$
(3.1)

Two modified Bessel functions (see, e.g., [1]) are used:

$$I_0(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{2k}}{2^{2k}(i!)^2};$$
(3.2)

15

$$I_1(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{2k+1}}{2^{2k+1}i!(i+1)!}.$$
(3.3)

In particular, when x = 2 is used in either modified Bessel function, useful approximations are obtained:

$$2.27958 \le \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(i!)^2} = I_0(2) \le 2.279586;$$
(3.4)

$$1.5906 \le \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{i}{(i!)^2} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!(k+1)!} = I_1(2) \le 1.59064.$$
(3.5)

The following form for the number of cycles in  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$  gives a way to estimate the right hand side of (3.1) in Lemma 3.2.3:

**Theorem 3.2.4** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). For  $n \ge 12$ ,

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \geq \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot \begin{cases} I_0(2) & \text{if } n \text{ is even} \\ I_1(2) & \text{if } n \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

$$\geq \pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \cdot \begin{cases} I_0(2) & \text{if } n \text{ is even} \\ I_1(2) & \text{if } n \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.6)$$

and as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = (1 + o(1)) \begin{cases} I_0(2)\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n & \text{if } n \text{ is even} \\ I_1(2)\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n & \text{if } n \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

**Proof:** Using (2.2), the proof that (3.7) follows from (3.6) is elementary (by using Stirling's approximation), and so is omitted.

By Lemma 3.2.3, write

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = \sum_{k=2}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2k(\lfloor n/2 \rfloor - k)!(\lceil n/2 \rceil - k)!} = \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot \sum_{k=2}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor}{k(\lfloor n/2 \rfloor - k)!(\lceil n/2 \rceil - k)!}.$$
 (3.9)

Case 1 (*n* even): Suppose that for  $\ell \ge 2$ ,  $n = 2\ell$ , and set

$$a_{\ell} = \sum_{k=2}^{\ell} \frac{\ell}{k((\ell-k)!)^2} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{\ell}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2}.$$

Then equation (3.9) becomes

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot a_{\ell}.$$
(3.10)

Claim: For  $\ell \ge 4$ ,  $a_{\ell+1} < a_{\ell}$ . (This claim is needed later only for  $\ell \ge 6$ .)

Proof of Claim:

$$\begin{aligned} a_{\ell} - a_{\ell+1} &= \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \left( \frac{\ell}{\ell-i} - \frac{\ell+1}{\ell+1-i} \right) \frac{1}{(i!)^2} - \frac{\ell+1}{2((\ell-1)!)^2} \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell+1-i)(\ell-i)(i!)^2} - \frac{\ell+1}{2((\ell-1)!)^2} \\ &= \sum_{i=2}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell+1-i)(\ell-i)(i!)^2} + \frac{1}{\ell(\ell-1)} - \frac{\ell+1}{2((\ell-1)!)^2} \\ &> \frac{1}{\ell(\ell-1)} - \frac{\ell+1}{2((\ell-1)!)^2} \\ &= \frac{2((\ell-1)!)^2 - (\ell+1)\ell(\ell-1)}{2((\ell-1)!)^2\ell(\ell-1)} \\ &\ge 0 \end{aligned}$$
 (for  $\ell \ge 4$ ),

finishing the proof of the claim.

Since the sequence  $\{a_\ell\}$  is non-increasing and bounded below (by 0, for example),  $\lim_{\ell\to\infty} a_\ell$  exists. To find this limit, first apply partial fractions:

$$a_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{\ell}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{(i!)^2} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2}.$$
Put  $b_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{(i!)^2}$  and  $c_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2}.$  Then
$$c_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2}$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{3} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2} + \sum_{i=4}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)(i!)^2}$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \sum_{i=4}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{(i-1)!(\ell-i)i!}$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \sum_{i=4}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{i(\ell-i)i!}$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \sum_{i=4}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{(2\ell-4)i!}$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \frac{1}{\ell} \sum_{i=4}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{i!} \qquad (\text{since } \ell \ge 4)$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \frac{\ell}{\ell},$$

where the last line is based on  $e = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{i!}$ .

Therefore,  $\lim_{\ell \to \infty} c_{\ell} = 0$ , and so

$$\lim_{\ell \to \infty} a_{\ell} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} (b_{\ell} + c_{\ell})$$
$$= \lim_{\ell \to \infty} b_{\ell}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(i!)^2}$$
$$= I_0(2) \qquad (by (3.4)).$$

Since  $a_{\ell}$  is non-increasing for  $\ell \geq 6$ , for  $n \geq 12$ ,

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \ge \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot I_0(2),$$

which proves the even case of (3.6). By (3.4), as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = (1 + o(1)) \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot I_0(2),$$

and by Stirling's approximation (2.1), the proof of the even case of (3.8) is complete.

Case 2 (n odd): Suppose that for  $\ell \ge 6$ ,  $n = 2\ell + 1$ . The proof follows the even case, and so is only outlined. Put

$$a_{\ell} = \sum_{k=2}^{\ell} \frac{\ell}{k(\ell-k)!(\ell+1-k)!} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{\ell}{(\ell-i)i!(i+1)!}.$$

Claim: For  $\ell \ge 4$ ,  $a_{\ell+1} < a_{\ell}$ .

Proof of claim: Letting  $\ell \geq 4$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} a_{\ell} - a_{\ell+1} &= \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell+1-i)(\ell-i)} \cdot \frac{1}{i!(i+1)!} - \frac{\ell+1}{2(\ell-1)!\ell!} \\ &= \sum_{i=2}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell+1-i)(\ell-i)} \cdot \frac{1}{i!(i+1)!} + \frac{1}{2(\ell-1)\ell} - \frac{\ell+1}{2(\ell-1)!\ell!} \\ &> \frac{(\ell-2)!(\ell-1)! - (\ell+1)}{2(\ell-1)!\ell!} \\ &\ge 0, \end{aligned}$$

finishing the proof of the claim.

Therefore,  $\lim_{\ell \to \infty} a_\ell$  exists. To find this limit, write

$$a_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{i!(i+1)!} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)i!(i+1)!}.$$
  
Letting  $b_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{i!(i+1)!}$  and  $c_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)i!(i+1)!}$ , observe that  
 $c_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)i!(i+1)!} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} \frac{i}{(\ell-i)i!(i+1)!} \le \frac{3}{\ell-3} + \frac{e}{\ell},$ 

and so  $\lim_{\ell \to \infty} c_{\ell} = 0$ . Thus,

$$\lim_{\ell \to \infty} a_{\ell} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} b_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{i!(i+1)!} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{i+1}{((i+1)!)^2} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{i}{(i!)^2},$$

which, by (3.5), is equal to  $I_1(2)$ . Then again

$$\begin{split} C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) &\geq \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= \frac{\ell!(\ell+1)!}{2\ell} \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= \frac{(\ell!)^2}{2\ell} (\ell+1) \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi \left(\frac{\ell}{e}\right)^{2\ell} (\ell+1) \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi \left(\frac{\ell}{e}\right)^{2\ell} (\ell-1) \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi \left(\frac{n-1}{2e}\right)^{n-1} \left(\frac{n-1}{2}\right) \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi e \left(\frac{n-1}{2e}\right)^n \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi e \left(\frac{n-1}{n}\right)^n \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \cdot I_1(2) \\ &= (1+o(1))\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \cdot I_1(2), \end{split}$$

and as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) = (1+o(1))\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \cdot I_1(2).$$

This completes the proof for odd n, and so the proof of the lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.5** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). Let H be a triangle-free graph on 6 vertices with  $x, y \in V(H)$ . Then there are at most 9 different x-y paths.

**Proof:** Consider two cases.

Case 1: H contains no copy of  $C_5$ . Then H contains no odd cycle, and so is bipartite. Without loss of generality, add edges to H to make H a complete bipartite

graph. There are only four different complete bipartite graphs on six vertices, namely  $\overline{K_6}$ ,  $K_{1,5}$ ,  $K_{2,4}$ , and  $K_{3,3}$ . By inspection, in any of these, the maximum number of paths between any two vertices is at most 9 (which is realized for  $K_{3,3}$ ).

Case 2: *H* contains a copy of  $C_5$ . Suppose that  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_1$  forms a cycle C, and that  $x_6$  is the remaining vertex. Then  $x_6$  is adjacent to at most two vertices of C. If  $x_6$  is adjacent to fewer than two vertices of C, add an extra edge or two so that  $x_6$  is adjacent to precisely two vertices of C; without loss of generality, suppose that  $x_6$  is adjacent to  $x_1$  and  $x_3$ . Then the maximum number of paths between any two vertices is 4 (for example, between  $x_2$  and  $x_6$ ).

#### **3.3** Counting cycles through a vertex or an edge

**Lemma 3.3.1** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). There exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  so that for every even integer  $n \ge n_0$ , if G is a triangle-free graph on n vertices, and  $x_1x_2 \in E(G)$ , then the number of cycles containing the edge  $x_1x_2$  is at most  $10\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n}$ .

**Proof:** Let G be a triangle-free graph on n vertices, and let  $x_1x_2 \in E(G)$ . For each  $k = 4, \ldots, n$ , let  $c_k$  denote the number of cycles of length k that contain the edge  $x_1x_2$ . The goal is to give an upper bound for  $\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k$ .

Let  $2 \le i \le \frac{n-4}{2}$ . An upper bound on  $c_{2i} + c_{2i+1}$  is first calculated; to do so, count all possible cycles of the form  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i}$  or  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i+1}$ . For each j > 1, there are at most  $d_j = |N(x_j) \setminus \{x_1, \ldots, x_{j-1}\}|$  ways to choose an  $x_{j+1}$ . Note that  $N(x_j) \cap N(x_{j+1}) = \emptyset$ , since otherwise a triangle is formed with  $x_j$  and  $x_{j+1}$ . Also,

$$|(N(x_j) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}\}) \cup (N(x_{j+1}) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_j\})| \le |V(G) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_j\}| = n - j.$$

Therefore,

$$d_{j} + d_{j+1} \leq |N(x_{j}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{j-1}\}| + |N(x_{j+1}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{j}\}|$$
  
=  $|(N(x_{j}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{j-1}\}) \cup (N(x_{j+1}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{j}\})|$   
 $\leq n - j,$ 

and thus

$$d_j d_{j+1} \le \left\lfloor \frac{n-j}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{n-j}{2} \right\rceil.$$
(3.11)

Using (3.11), the number of ways to choose vertices  $x_3, x_4, \ldots, x_{2i}$  so that  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, \ldots, x_{2i}$  form a path is at most

$$\prod_{j=2}^{2i-1} d_j = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} (d_{2j} d_{2j+1}) \le \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{n-2j}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{n-2j}{2} \right\rceil \right) = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} \left( \frac{n-2j}{2} \right)^2.$$
(3.12)

If there is an edge  $x_{2i}x_1 \in E(G)$ , there is one cycle  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i}$  of length 2i, and no cycles of the form  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i+1}$  because otherwise,  $x_1, x_{2i}, x_{2i+1}$  form a triangle. So, in total, there is exactly one cycle that contains the path  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i}$ and has length 2i or 2i + 1. If there is no edge  $x_{2i}x_1$ , there is no cycle  $x_1, \ldots, x_{2i}$ and at most n - 2i cycles of the form  $x_1, \ldots, x_{2i}x_{2i+1}$ . In any case, there are at most n - 2i cycles of length 2i or 2i + 1 containing the path  $x_1, \ldots, x_{2i}$ .

By these observations and inequality (3.12),

$$c_{2i} + c_{2i+1} \le (n-2i) \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} \left(\frac{n-2j}{2}\right)^2.$$
 (3.13)

To evaluate  $\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k$ , separate the sum into two parts:

$$\sum_{k=4}^{n-5} c_k = \sum_{i=2}^{(n-6)/2} (c_{2i} + c_{2i+1})$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=2}^{(n-6)/2} \left( (n-2i) \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} \left( \frac{n-2j}{2} \right)^2 \right) \qquad \text{(by (3.13))}$$

$$= \sum_{i=2}^{(n-6)/2} (n-2i) \left( \frac{\left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)!}{\left( \frac{n-2i}{2} \right)!} \right)^2$$

$$= \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \sum_{j=3}^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \frac{2j}{(j!)^2}$$

$$= \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \left( \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \frac{2j}{(j!)^2} - \frac{2 \cdot 2}{(1!)^2} - \frac{2 \cdot 2}{(2!)^2} \right)$$

$$\leq \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2 (2 \cdot (1.591) - 3) \qquad \text{(by (3.5))}$$

$$< 0.19 \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2. \qquad (3.14)$$

To count  $\sum_{k=n-4}^{n} c_k$ , note that by (3.11), there are at most

$$\prod_{i=2}^{n-5} d_i \le \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \left(\frac{n-2j}{2}\right)^2$$

ways to choose a path  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{n-4}$ , and by Lemma 3.2.5, there are at most 9 paths that connect  $x_{n-4}$  and  $x_1$  in the graph  $G \setminus \{x_1, \ldots, x_{n-5}\}$ ; that is, there are at most 9 ways to complete the path  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{n-4}$  to a cycle. Therefore,

$$\sum_{k=n-4}^{n} c_k \le 9 \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \left(\frac{n-2j}{2}\right)^2 = 9 \cdot \frac{\left(\left(\frac{n-2}{2}\right)!\right)^2}{(2!)^2} = \frac{9}{4} \left(\left(\frac{n-2}{2}\right)!\right)^2.$$
(3.15)

Adding equations (3.14) and (3.15),

$$\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k \le 0.19 \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2 + \frac{9}{4} \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2 = 2.44 \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right)! \right)^2.$$
(3.16)

By Stirling's approximation, as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$2.44 \left( \left(\frac{n-2}{2}\right)! \right)^2 = (1+o(1))2.44 \left(\frac{n-2}{2e}\right)^{n-2} \cdot \pi(n-2)$$
  
$$= (1+o(1))2.44\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} (2e)^2 \left(\frac{n-2}{n}\right)^{n-1}$$
  
$$= (1+o(1))2.44\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} 4e^2 \cdot \frac{1}{e^2}$$
  
$$= (1+o(1))9.76\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n}$$
  
$$< 10\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n}$$
 (for *n* suff. large)

completing the proof of the lemma.

By a closer inspection, Lemma 3.3.1 holds for the value  $n_0 = 97$ .

**Lemma 3.3.2** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). There exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  so that for every odd integer  $n \ge n_0$ , if G is a triangle-free graph on n vertices, and  $x_1x_2 \in E(G)$  with  $\deg_G(x_2) \le \frac{2}{5}n$ , then the number of cycles containing the edge  $x_1x_2$  is at most  $7.81\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n}$ .

**Proof:** The proof is similar to that of Lemma 3.3.1. Let G be a triangle-free graph on n vertices, and let  $x_1x_2 \in E(G)$ , where  $\deg(x_2) \leq \frac{2}{5}n$ . For each  $k = 4, \ldots, n$ , let  $c_k$  denote the number of cycles of length k that contain the edge  $x_1x_2$ .

For  $3 \leq i \leq \frac{n-5}{2}$ , an upper bound on  $c_{2i-1} + c_{2i}$  is first calculated; to do so, count all possible cycles of the form  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i-1}$  or  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2i}$ . As in Lemma 3.3.1, for each j > 1, there are at most  $d_j = |N(x_j) \setminus \{x_1, \ldots, x_{j-1}\}|$  ways to choose an  $x_{j+1}$ ,

and

$$d_j d_{j+1} \le \left\lfloor \frac{n-j}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{n-j}{2} \right\rceil.$$
 (3.17)

Using (3.17) and the fact that  $d_2 \leq \frac{2}{5}n$ , the number of ways to choose vertices  $x_3, x_4, \ldots, x_{2i-1}$  so that  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, \ldots, x_{2i-1}$  form a path is at most

$$\prod_{j=2}^{2i-2} d_j = d_2 \prod_{j=3}^{2i-2} d_j \le \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{i-2} (d_{2j+1} d_{2j+2})$$
$$\le \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{i-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{n-2j-1}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{n-2j-1}{2} \right\rceil \right)$$
$$= \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{i-2} \left( \frac{n-2j-1}{2} \right)^2.$$
(3.18)

If  $x_{2i-1}x_1 \in E(G)$ , there is one cycle of length 2i - 1 and no cycles of length 2i; if there is no such edge, there are no cycles of length 2i - 1 and at most n - 2i + 1cycles of length 2i. By these observations and (3.18),

$$c_{2i-1} + c_{2i} \le (n-2i+1)\frac{2}{5}n\prod_{j=1}^{i-2}\left(\frac{n-2j-1}{2}\right)^2.$$
 (3.19)

To evaluate  $\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k$ , separate the sum into three parts:

$$\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k = c_4 + \sum_{k=5}^{n-5} c_k + \sum_{k=n-4}^{n} c_k.$$

First,

$$c_4 \le d_2 d_3 < n \cdot n = n^2. \tag{3.20}$$

Next,

$$\sum_{k=5}^{n-5} c_k = \sum_{i=3}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} (c_{2i-1} + c_{2i})$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=3}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} \left[ (n-2i+1) \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{i-2} \left( \frac{n-2j-1}{2} \right)^2 \right] \qquad \text{(by (3.19))}$$

$$= \frac{2}{5} n \sum_{i=3}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} \left[ (n-2i+1) \prod_{j=1}^{i-2} \left( \frac{n-2j-1}{2} \right)^2 \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{5} n \sum_{i=3}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} (n-2i+1) \left( \frac{\left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)!}{\left( \frac{n-2i+1}{2} \right)!} \right)^2$$

$$= \frac{2}{5} n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \sum_{j=3}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} \frac{2j}{(j!)^2}$$

$$= \frac{2}{5} n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \left( \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{n-5}{2}} \frac{2j}{(j!)^2} - \frac{2 \cdot 2}{(2!)^2} \right)$$

$$< \frac{2}{5} n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 (3.19-3) \qquad \text{(by (3.5))}$$

$$= 0.076n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2. \qquad (3.21)$$

To count  $\sum_{k=n-4}^{n} c_k$ , note that by (3.20), there are at most

$$\prod_{i=2}^{n-5} d_i = d_2 \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{(n-7)/2} d_{2j+1} d_{2j+2} \le \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{n-7}{2}} \left(\frac{n-2j-1}{2}\right)^2$$

ways to choose a path  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{n-4}$ , and by Lemma 3.2.5, there are at most 9 ways to complete to a cycle (by paths that connect  $x_{n-4}$  and  $x_1$ ) in the graph  $G \setminus \{x_1, \ldots, x_{n-5}\}$ . Therefore,

$$\sum_{k=n-4}^{n} c_k \le 9 \cdot \frac{2}{5} n \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{n-7}{2}} \left(\frac{n-2j-1}{2}\right)^2 = 9 \cdot \frac{2}{5} n \cdot \frac{\left(\left(\frac{n-3}{2}\right)!\right)^2}{(2!)^2} = \frac{9}{10} n \left(\left(\frac{n-3}{2}\right)!\right)^2.$$
(3.22)

Adding (3.20), (3.21), and (3.22), as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$\sum_{k=4}^{n} c_k \le n^2 + 0.076n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 + \frac{9}{10} n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2$$

$$= n^2 + 0.976n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \qquad (3.23)$$

$$= n^2 + (1+o(1))0.976n(n-3)\pi \left( \frac{n-3}{2e} \right)^{n-3}$$

$$= (1+o(1))0.976\pi \cdot \frac{n^{n-2}}{(2e)^n} \left( \frac{n-3}{n} \right)^{n-2} (2e)^3$$

$$= (1+o(1))0.976\pi \cdot \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} \frac{1}{e^3} (2e)^3$$

$$= (1+o(1))7.808\pi \cdot \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n}$$

$$< 7.81\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} \qquad (for n suff. large),$$

completing the proof.

By a closer inspection, Lemma 3.3.2 holds for the value  $n_0 = 24729$ .

**Lemma 3.3.3** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). Let *H* be a triangle-free graph on *k* vertices. Then *H* has at most  $e^2 \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k$  hamiltonian cycles.

**Proof:** Let  $x_1$  be the first vertex of a hamiltonian cycle. For each  $i \ge 1$ , there are at most  $d_i = |N(x_i) \setminus \{x_1, \ldots, x_i\}|$  ways to choose a vertex  $x_{i+1}$ . Note that  $N(x_i) \cap N(x_{i+1}) = \emptyset$  because if the intersection contains some vertex v, then  $v, x_i$ , and  $x_{i+1}$  form a triangle. Also,

$$N(x_i) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_i\} \cup N(x_{i+1}) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_{i+1}\} | \le |V(H) \setminus \{x_1, \dots, x_i\} | = k - i.$$

Therefore,

$$d_{i} + d_{i+1} = |N(x_{i}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{i}\}| + |N(x_{i+1}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{i+1}\}|$$
$$= |N(x_{i}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{i}\} \cup N(x_{i+1}) \setminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{i+1}\}|$$
$$\leq k - i,$$

and thus  $d_i d_{i+1} \leq \lfloor \frac{k-i}{2} \rfloor \cdot \lceil \frac{k-i}{2} \rceil$ .

When k is odd, the number of hamiltonian cycles is at most

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k-1} d_i = \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-1}{2}} d_{2j-1} d_{2j} \le \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-1}{2}} \left\lfloor \frac{k-2j+1}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{k-2j+1}{2} \right\rceil$$
$$= \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-1}{2}} \left( \frac{k-2j+1}{2} \right)^2$$
$$= \left( \left( \frac{k-1}{2} \right)! \right)^2,$$

and by (2.2), this number is at most

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\left(\frac{k-1}{2}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}}}{e^{\frac{k-1}{2}-1}}\right)^2 &= \frac{\left(\frac{k-1}{2}\right)^k}{e^{k-3}} = e^3 \left(\frac{k-1}{k}\right)^k \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k = e^3 \frac{1}{\left(1+\frac{1}{k-1}\right)^k} \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k \\ &\leq e^2 \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k, \end{split}$$

completing the proof for odd k.
When k is even, similarly obtain

$$\begin{split} \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} d_i &= \left(\prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-2}{2}} d_{2j-1} d_{2j}\right) \cdot d_{k-1} \le \left(\prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-2}{2}} \left\lfloor \frac{k-2j+1}{2} \right\rfloor \cdot \left\lceil \frac{k-2j+1}{2} \right\rceil \right) \cdot 1 \\ &= \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{k-1}{2}} \left(\frac{k-2j}{2}\right) \left(\frac{k-2j+2}{2}\right) = \frac{k}{2} \left(\left(\frac{k-2}{2}\right)!\right)^2 \le \frac{k}{2} \left(\frac{\left(\frac{k-2}{2}\right)^{\frac{k-2}{2}+\frac{1}{2}}}{e^{\frac{k-2}{2}}}\right)^2 \\ &= k \frac{(k-2)^{k-1}}{e^{k-4}2^k} = e^4 \left(\frac{k-2}{k}\right)^{k-1} \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k = e^4 \frac{1}{\left(1+\frac{2}{k-2}\right)^{k-1}} \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k \\ &\le e^2 \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k, \end{split}$$

completing the proof for even k, and hence for the lemma.

#### 3.4 Main theorems

In Theorem 3.4.1, Conjecture 3.1.1 is proved for sufficiently large n. Then in Theorem 3.4.2, a lower bound on such n is given.

**Theorem 3.4.1** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). There exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  so that for any  $n \ge n_0$ , the triangle-free graph on n vertices with the largest number of cycles is  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$ .

**Proof:** Let G be a triangle-free graph on n vertices. It is first shown that if G contains a vertex of small degree, then G has far fewer cycles than does  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$ .

Let  $x \in V(G)$ , and assume that  $\deg(x) \leq \frac{2}{5}n$ . Cycles in G are counted according to whether or not they contain x.

First, the number of cycles not containing x are counted. Any cycle in  $G \setminus x$  is a hamiltonian cycle for some subgraph, and so the number of cycles in G not containing x is loosely bounded above by

$$\sum_{Y \subseteq V(G) \setminus x} (\text{number of ham. cycles in } G[Y])$$
(3.24)  

$$\leq \sum_{k=4}^{n-1} {\binom{n-1}{k}} e^2 \left(\frac{k}{2e}\right)^k \qquad \text{(by Lemma 3.3.3)}$$

$$< e^2 \sum_{k=4}^{n-1} {\binom{n-1}{k}} \left(\frac{n-1}{2e}\right)^k$$

$$< e^2 \left(1 + \frac{n-1}{2e}\right)^{n-1}$$

$$= e^2 \left(\frac{n+2e-1}{2e}\right)^{n-1}$$

$$= e^2 \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^{n-1} \left(\frac{n+2e-1}{n}\right)^{n-1}$$

$$< e^2 \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^{n-1} \left(1 + \frac{2e-1}{n}\right)^n$$

$$\leq e^2 \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^{n-1} e^{2e-1}$$

$$= \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n} \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n.$$
(3.25)

Next, the number of cycles containing x are counted. Each cycle C containing x has exactly two edges (in C) incident with x, and so the number of cycles containing x is

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{y \in N(x)} (\text{number of cycles containing } xy).$$
(3.26)

By Lemma 3.3.1, for even n, the expression (3.26) is at most

$$\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{5}n \cdot 10\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} = 2\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n.$$

In this case, for n sufficiently large, the total number of cycles in G is at most

$$2\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n + \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n} \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n = \left(2\pi + \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n}\right) \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \le 2.01\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n.$$

However, by (3.6), the number of cycles in  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$  is (for *n* even) at least  $2.27958\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n$ .

Let n be odd; then by Lemma 3.3.2, the expression (3.26) is at most

$$\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{5}n \cdot 7.81\pi \frac{n^{n-1}}{(2e)^n} = 1.562\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n.$$
(3.27)

Thus, for odd n sufficiently large, by (3.27) and (3.25) the total number of cycles in G is at most

$$1.562\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n + \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n} \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n \le 1.57\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n.$$

By (3.6) in Theorem 3.2.4, the number of cycles in  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$  for *n* odd is at least  $1.5906\pi \left(\frac{n}{2e}\right)^n$ .

In both the even and odd case, if G contains a vertex of degree at most  $\frac{2}{5}n$ , then G has far fewer cycles than does  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$ .

So assume that  $\delta(G) > \frac{2}{5}n$ . Then by Theorem 3.2.2, G is bipartite. By Lemma 3.2.1, the number of cycles in G is maximized by  $K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}$ .

**Theorem 3.4.2** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). The statement of Theorem 3.4.1 with  $n_0 = 141$  is true.

**Proof:** To show that  $n_0 = 141$  works, further estimations on  $C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil})$  are needed for  $n \ge 141$ . Both when n is even and when n is odd, (3.10) holds (but the expression for  $a_{\ell}$  changes). Since each (one for odd, one for even) sequence of  $a_{\ell}$ s are non-increasing for  $n \ge 140$ , by (3.10),

$$C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \leq \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot \begin{cases} a_{71} & \text{for } n \text{ even} \\ a_{70} & \text{for } n \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$
$$\leq \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot \begin{cases} 2.302786 & \text{for } n \text{ even} \\ 1.60067 & \text{for } n \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(3.28)

(The values of  $a_{70}$  and  $a_{71}$  were calculated by computer.) With these estimates in hand, now Theorem 3.4.1 is proved with  $n_0 = 141$ . Let G be a triangle-free graph on  $n \ge 141$  vertices. First, it is proved that  $C(G) \le 6 \cdot C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil})$  for G having odd number of vertices. This result is then used to prove the statement of Theorem 3.4.2 for even number of vertices in G. Finally, Theorem 3.4.2 is verified for odd number of vertices in G.

Without loss of generality, assume that there is a vertex of degree at most  $\frac{2}{5}n$  (since otherwise, the theorem is proved by Theorem 3.2.2 and Lemma 3.2.1). In the following calculations, bounds given in (2.2) and Theorem 3.2.4 are used freely.

Case 1: Let  $n \ge 141$  be odd. By (3.23) from the proof of Lemma 3.3.2, the number of cycles passing through an edge xy in G is at most  $n^2 + 0.976n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2$ .

Then the number of cycles in G is bounded by

$$\begin{split} C(G) &\leq \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{5} n \cdot \left[ n^2 + 0.976n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \right] + \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n} \left( \frac{n}{2e} \right)^n \\ &= \frac{\frac{n-1}{2}! \frac{n+1}{2}!}{n-1} \cdot I_1(2) \cdot \left( \frac{\frac{n}{5} \left[ n^2 + 0.976n \left( \left( \frac{n-3}{2} \right)! \right)^2 \right] (n-1)}{\frac{n-1}{2}! \frac{n+1}{2}! \cdot I_1(2)} \right) \\ &+ I_1(2) \cdot \pi \left( \frac{n}{2e} \right)^n \left( \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n \cdot I_1(2)\pi} \right) \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot \left( 10^{-10} + \frac{8}{5} \cdot (0.976) \left( \frac{n^2}{n^2 - 1} \right) + \frac{2e^{2e+2}}{n\pi} \right) \cdot \frac{1}{I_1(2)} \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot 6. \end{split}$$

Case 2: Let n be even and  $n \ge 142$ . Then by (3.16), the proof of Theorem 3.4.1, and by the result in Case 1,

$$\begin{split} C(G) &\leq \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{5} n \cdot 2.44 \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right) ! \right)^2 + 6 \cdot C(K_{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor, \lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \rceil}) \\ &= \frac{\frac{n}{5} 2.44 \left( \left( \frac{n-2}{2} \right) ! \right)^2}{\lfloor \frac{n/2} \rfloor! \cdot I_0(2)} \cdot \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil !}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \cdot I_0(2) \\ &\quad + C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \frac{6 \cdot C(K_{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor, \lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \rceil})}{C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil})} \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot \left( \frac{\frac{4}{5} \cdot 2.44}{I_0(2)} + \frac{6 \cdot 1.60067 \cdot \frac{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor! \lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \rceil!}{I_0(2) \lfloor \frac{n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}} \right) \quad \text{(by (3.28))} \\ &= C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \left( \frac{\frac{4}{5} \cdot 2.44}{I_0(2)} + \frac{6 \cdot 1.60067 \cdot \frac{2}{n}}{I_0(2) \lfloor \frac{n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2 \lfloor n/2 \rfloor}} \right) \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \left( \text{for } n \geq 142 \right). \end{split}$$

Returning to the case when n is odd, using equation (3.28) again,

$$\begin{split} C(G) &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot \left( \frac{10^{-10} + \frac{8}{5}(0.976) \left(\frac{n^2}{n^2 - 1}\right)}{I_1(2)} + \frac{2.302786 \cdot \frac{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor! \lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \rceil!}{2\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor}}{I_1(2) \cdot \frac{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor! \lceil n/2 \rceil!}{2\lfloor n/2 \rfloor}} \right) \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot \left( \frac{10^{-10} + \frac{8}{5}(0.976) \left(\frac{n^2}{n^2 - 1}\right)}{I_1(2)} + \frac{2.302786}{I_1(2) \cdot (n+1)} \right) \\ &\leq C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}) \cdot 0.9947 \\ &< C(K_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor, \lceil n/2 \rceil}). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem for  $n \ge 141$ .

3.5 Concluding remarks

Another question related to Conjecture 3.1.1 that might be interesting is:

**Question 3.5.1** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). What is the maximum number of cycles in a graph on n vertices with girth at least g?

The case g = 3 is trivial and Theorem 3.4.1 addresses this question for g = 4; however, there seems to be little known for  $g \ge 5$ .

A type of stability result also follows from the techniques given in this chapter. Theorem 3.4.1 shows that among all triangle-free graphs with n vertices and  $m = \lfloor \frac{n^2}{4} \rfloor$  edges,  $K_{\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil, \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}$  has the most number of cycles. Let  $\ell = o(n)$ , and set  $m = \lfloor \frac{n^2}{4} \rfloor - \ell$ . If G has n vertices and m edges, and has the most number of cycles among

all triangle-free *n*-vertex graphs with *m* edges, then the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 3.4.1 shows that *G* is bipartite. By the maximality of the number of cycles, one possibly can show that *G* is a subgraph of  $K_{\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil, \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor}$ .

For  $14 \le n \le 140$ , Conjecture 3.1.1 remains open. With a bit more care, it appears that with the techniques in this chapter, one might be able to prove Conjecture 3.1.1 for the even n to  $n \ge 100$  or so, but the techniques used here do not seem to leave much room for the odd n. Skala [45] has suggested that Lemma 3.2.5 might be proved for graphs with slightly more vertices, and such an improvement might yield modest improvements for the bound on n for which Theorem 3.4.1 holds.

### Chapter 4

# Counting cycles in a graph with given number of edges

### 4.1 Overview of the results

Counting the number of cycles in a graph is a problem that was studied for different classes of the graphs: graphs with given cyclomatic number, planar graphs, 3-regular and 4-regular graphs, and many others (see the list in Section 3.1). However, only a few general bounds (that are only based on number of vertices and edges, or only number of edges) for a number of cycles in a graph are known. In this chapter bounds on the number of cycles in a graph as a function of number of edges, or vertices and edges, are presented.

As in Chapter 3, let C(G) denote the number of cycles in a graph G. In 1897,

Ahrens [2] proved that for a graph G with n vertices, m edges and k components,

$$m - n + k \le C(G) \le 2^{m - n + k} - 1.$$
 (4.1)

The lower bound in (4.1) is tight; for example, it is achieved by any disjoint union of cycles and trees. In 1976, the tightness of the upper bound in (4.1) was shown by Mateti and Deo [35] and the only graphs for which the upper bound is tight are  $K_3$ ,  $K_4$ ,  $K_{3,3}$  and  $K_4 - e$ . In 2008, Aldred and Thomassen [4] improved the upper bound in (4.1) by showing that for a connected graph G,

$$C(G) \le \frac{15}{16} 2^{m-n+1}.$$
(4.2)

In 1981, Entringer and Slater [21] considered C(G) for the class of connected graphs with a fixed cyclomatic number r = m - n + 1. It follows from the results of [21] that there is a 3-regular connected graph G for which  $C(G) > 2^{r-1}$ . Shi [42], in 1994, presented for all  $r \ge 1$  an example of a hamiltonian graph G with  $C(G) = 2^{r-1} + (r-1)(r-2) + 1$ .

In 2009, Király [30] investigated C(G) for several classes of graphs: the union and the sum of two trees (the sum of two trees is the multigraph that is formed by the disjoint union of edges of two trees), 3-regular and 4-regular graphs, and graphs with the average degree 4. Király also conjectured that there is a constant c, such that for any graph G that has m edges,

$$C(G) \le c(1.4)^m.$$

Aldred and Thomassen [4] also studied C(G) for the class of planar graphs. Arman, Gunderson and Tsaturian [10] studied C(G) for the class of triangle-free graphs on *n* vertices (our findings are also presented in Chapter 3). In 2006, Teunter and van der Poort [48] considered the question of counting the number of hamiltonian cycles in a graph with a given number of vertices and edges by using techniques similar to those used in Section 4.3.

In this chapter, C(G) is investigated for two classes of graphs and multigraphs: those with n vertices and m edges, and those with m edges.

Theorem 4.4.2 below states that if a graph G has n vertices and m edges, then

$$C(G) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(\frac{m}{n-1})^{n-1}, \text{ if } \frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3, \\ \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m, \text{ if } \frac{m}{n-1} < 3. \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

For graphs with sufficiently large number of edges and average degree at least 4.25 the bound in (4.3) is better than in (4.2).

In Section 4.6 (see Theorem 4.6.1) it is shown that for n large enough and d = d(n), such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) = \infty$ , there exists a graph G with n vertices and  $m = \frac{d}{2}n$  edges such that

$$C(G) \ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n = (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{2m}{en}\right)^n$$

For  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , let C(m) be the maximum number of cycles in a graph with m edges. In Corollary 4.4.3 it is shown that for all  $m \ge 1$ 

$$C(m) < 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m \sim 8.25(1.44229..)^m,$$

which, for m > 4056, implies

$$C(m) < 1.443^m.$$

In Section 4.2 it is shown that the extremal graphs for C(m) have bounded degrees. Namely, it is shown that if G is a graph with m edges with C(G) = C(m), then  $\Delta(G) \leq 11$  (Theorem 4.2.3) and  $\delta(G) \geq 3$  (Theorem 4.2.4).

In Section 4.5, for m sufficiently large, a graph G with m edges is constructed, such that

$$C(G) \ge (2 + \sqrt{8})^{\frac{m}{5} - 1} \ge 1.37^{m}.$$
 (4.4)

Corollary 4.4.3 and inequality (4.4) imply that for m large enough,

$$1.37^m \le C(m) \le 1.443^m. \tag{4.5}$$

In Section 4.7, the problems of maximizing the number of cycles in a multigraph with a given number of edges or with a given number of vertices and edges are considered. It is shown (Theorem 4.7.3) that if G is a multigraph that has the most cycles among all multigraphs with m multi-edges, then

$$\frac{9}{10}(\sqrt[3]{3})^m \le C(G) \le 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

# 4.2 Maximal and minimal degree of graphs with C(m) cycles

Recall that, for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , C(m) is the maximum number of cycles in a graph with m edges. The main result of this section is Theorem 4.2.3 that states that maximum degree in a graph with m edges that has C(m) cycles is at most eleven.

The proof of Theorem 4.2.3 relies on the following two technical lemmas.

**Lemma 4.2.1** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let  $k \ge 6$  be a positive integer. For  $i, j \in [k]$  such that  $i \ne j$ , let  $w_{i,j}$  be non-negative real numbers, such that  $w_{i,j} = w_{j,i}$ , and let  $S = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} w_{i,j}$ . Then there exists a 6-element set  $D \subseteq [k]$  such that

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le k \\ i \notin D, j \notin D}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S.$$

*Proof.* The proof relies on an averaging argument. For each  $i \in [k]$  set  $w_i = \sum_{j \in [k], j \neq i} w_{i,j}$ . Note that

$$\sum_{i \in [k]} w_i = 2S$$

Let X be a collection of all 6-element subsets of [k]. For  $D \in X$  let

$$S(D) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le k \\ i \notin D, j \notin D}} w_{i,j}$$
$$= S - \sum_{i \in D} \left( \sum_{j \in [k], \ j \neq i} w_{i,j} \right) + \sum_{i,j \in D, \ i < j} w_{i,j}$$
$$= S - \sum_{i \in D} w_i + \sum_{i,j \in D, \ i < j} w_{i,j}.$$

Let  $\overline{S(D)}$  be the average of S(D) over all  $D \in X$ . Then

$$\overline{S(D)} = \frac{\sum_{D \in X} \left( S - \sum_{i \in D} w_i + \sum_{i,j \in D, i < j} w_{i,j} \right)}{\binom{k}{6}}$$

$$= S - \frac{\sum_{i \in [k]} \sum_{D \in X, i \in D} w_i}{\binom{k}{6}} + \frac{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} \sum_{D \in X: i, j \in D} w_{i,j}}{\binom{k}{6}}$$

$$= S - \frac{\sum_{i \in [k]} \binom{k-1}{5} w_i}{\binom{k}{6}} + \frac{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} \binom{k-2}{4} w_{i,j}}{\binom{k}{6}}$$

$$= S - \frac{\binom{k-1}{5} \cdot 2S}{\binom{k}{6}} + \frac{\binom{k-2}{4} \cdot S}{\binom{k}{6}}$$

$$= \left(1 - \frac{6(2k - 7)}{k(k - 1)}\right) S.$$

Therefore, there exists  $D \in X$ , such that  $S(D) \ge \overline{S(D)}$ , i.e.,

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le k \\ i \notin D, \ j \notin D}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S.$$

**Lemma 4.2.2** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let  $k \ge 2$  be a positive integer. For  $i, j \in [k]$  such that  $i \ne j$ , let  $w_{i,j}$  be non-negative real numbers, such that  $w_{i,j} = w_{j,i}$ , and let  $S = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} w_{i,j}$ . Then there exists a partition  $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3 \cup A_4 = [k]$ , such that

$$\sum_{1 \le l < m \le 4} \sum_{\substack{i \in A_\ell \\ j \in A_m}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(\frac{3k^2 - 4}{4k(k-1)}\right) S.$$

*Proof.* For all  $\ell \in [4]$  let  $a_{\ell} = \lfloor \frac{k+l-1}{4} \rfloor$  (note that  $a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + a_4 = k$ ). Let X be the collection of all ordered quadruples  $(A_1, A_2, A_3, A_4)$ , such that  $\pi = A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3 \cup A_4$  is a partition of [k] and for all  $\ell \in [4]$ ,  $|A_{\ell}| = a_{\ell}$ . Note that

$$|X| = \frac{k!}{a_1! a_2! a_3! a_4!}.$$

For  $\mathbf{p} = (A_1, A_2, A_3, A_4) \in X$  define

$$S(\mathbf{p}) = \sum_{1 \le l < m \le 4} \sum_{\substack{i \in A_{\ell} \\ j \in A_m}} w_{i,j}$$
$$= S - \sum_{l \in [4]} \sum_{\substack{i < j \\ i, j \in A_{\ell}}} w_{i,j}.$$

Let  $\overline{S(\mathbf{p})}$  be the average of  $S(\mathbf{p})$  over all possible choices of  $\mathbf{p} \in X$ .

$$\overline{S(\mathbf{p})} = \frac{\sum_{p \in X} (S - \sum_{l \in [4]} \sum_{i,j \in A_{\ell}, i < j} w_{i,j})}{|X|}$$
$$= S - \frac{\sum_{l \in [4]} \sum_{p \in X} \sum_{i,j \in A_{\ell}, i < j} w_{i,j}}{|X|}$$
$$= S - \frac{\sum_{l \in [4]} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} \sum_{p \in X: i,j \in A_{\ell}} w_{i,j}}{|X|}$$

Note that for any choice of  $\ell \in [4]$  and any choice of i, j, such that  $1 \le i < j \le k$ , there are exactly

$$\frac{(k-2)!(a_{\ell})(a_{\ell}-1)}{a_1!a_2!a_3!a_4!}$$

quadruples  $\mathbf{p} \in X$ , such that  $i, j \in A_{\ell}$ . Then,

$$\begin{split} \overline{S(\mathbf{p})} &= S - \left(\sum_{l \in [4]} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} \frac{(k-2)!(a_{\ell})(a_{\ell}-1)}{a_1!a_2!a_3!a_4!} w_{i,j}\right) / |X| \\ &= S - \left(\sum_{l \in [4]} \frac{(k-2)!(a_{\ell})(a_{\ell}-1)}{a_1!a_2!a_3!a_4!} \cdot S\right) \cdot \frac{1}{|X|} \\ &= S - \left(\sum_{l \in [4]} \frac{(k-2)!(a_{\ell})(a_{\ell}-1)}{a_1!a_2!a_3!a_4!}\right) \cdot S \cdot \frac{a_1!a_2!a_3!a_4!}{k!} \\ &= S - \left(\sum_{l \in [4]} \frac{\lfloor \frac{k+l-1}{4} \rfloor \left(\lfloor \frac{k+l-1}{4} \rfloor - 1\right)}{k(k-1)}\right) \cdot S \right) \\ &= S \left(1 - \frac{1}{k(k-1)} \cdot \begin{cases} \frac{k(k-4)}{4}, & \text{if } k \equiv 0 \mod 4 \\ \frac{(k-1)(k-3)}{4}, & \text{if } k \equiv 1 \mod 4 \\ \frac{(k-2)^2}{4}, & \text{if } k \equiv 2 \mod 4 \end{cases} \\ &\geq S \left(1 - \frac{(k-2)^2}{4k(k-1)}\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, there exists a  $\mathbf{p} = (A_1, A_2, A_3, A_4) \in X$ , such that  $S(\mathbf{p}) \geq \overline{S(\mathbf{p})}$ . Therefore, the partition  $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3 \cup A_4$  satisfies the statement of Lemma 4.2.2.

**Theorem 4.2.3** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). If G is a graph with m edges such that C(G) = C(m), then  $\Delta(G) \leq 11$ .

*Proof.* Let m be a positive integer and G be a graph with m edges. To prove Theorem 4.2.3, it is sufficient to prove that if  $\Delta(G) \ge 12$ , then there is a graph Hwith m edges and with C(H) > C(G). Let  $\Delta(G) \geq 12$  and u be a vertex of maximal degree in G. Let  $N(u) = \{u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_k\}$  be the neighbourhood of u (note that  $k \geq 12$ ). For  $i, j \in [k], i \neq j$ , define  $w_{i,j}$  to be the number of paths from vertex  $u_i$  to vertex  $u_j$  in the graph  $G \setminus u$ . Then the number of cycles in G that pass through vertex u is  $S = \sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq k} w_{i,j}$ . By Lemma 4.2.1, there is a 6-element set  $D = \{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_6\}$ , such that

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le k \\ i \notin D, j \notin D}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(1 - \frac{6(2k - 7)}{k(k - 1)}\right) S.$$
(4.6)

Suppose, upon re-indexing, that  $D = \{k - 5, k - 4, \dots, k - 1, k\}$ . Lemma 4.2.2 applied to the collection of real numbers  $w_{i,j}$  with  $1 \le i < j \le k - 6$  gives a partition  $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3 \cup A_4 = [k - 6]$  with

$$\sum_{1 \le l < m \le 4} \sum_{\substack{i \in A_{\ell} \\ j \in A_m}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(\frac{3(k-6)^2 - 4}{4(k-6)(k-7)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S.$$
(4.7)

For  $i \in [4]$ , let  $U_i = \{u_j : j \in A_i\}$ . Construct a graph H by deleting u and all of the edges incident to u, adding four new vertices  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$ , then for all  $1 \le i \le 4$ adding edges from  $v_i$  to each of the vertices of  $U_i$ , and for all  $1 \le i < j \le 4$  adding edges  $v_i v_j$  (see Figure 4.1). Then |E(H)| = |E(G)|.



Figure 4.1: Constructing the graph H.

To count the number of cycles in H, note the following:

- Every cycle in G that does not pass through the vertex u is still a cycle in H. There are C(G) - S such cycles.
- Let C be a cycle in G that for some 1 ≤ i < j ≤ k 6 contains a path u<sub>i</sub>uu<sub>j</sub>. If for some l ∈ [4] u<sub>i</sub> and u<sub>j</sub> are in the same class U<sub>ℓ</sub>, then C corresponds to the cycle in H that uses the path u<sub>i</sub>v<sub>ℓ</sub>u<sub>j</sub> instead of u<sub>i</sub>uu<sub>j</sub>. In the case if for some 1 ≤ l < m ≤ 4, u<sub>i</sub> ∈ U<sub>ℓ</sub> and u<sub>j</sub> ∈ U<sub>m</sub>, the cycle C corresponds to the cycle that uses the path u<sub>i</sub>v<sub>ℓ</sub>v<sub>m</sub>u<sub>j</sub> instead of u<sub>i</sub>uu<sub>j</sub>. By (4.6), there are at least

$$\left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right)S$$

cycles in G that use a path  $u_i u u_j$  with  $u_i, u_j \in N(u) \setminus D$ .

• Every cycle in G that for some  $i \in A_{\ell}$  and  $j \in A_m$  with  $\ell \neq m$  contains a path  $u_i u u_j$  gives rise to additional 4 cycles in  $H(\text{except the one containing } u_i v_{\ell} v_m u_j)$ .

For example, if  $\ell = 1$ , m = 2 the four new cycles contain paths  $u_i v_1 v_3 v_2 u_j$ ,  $u_i v_1 v_4 v_2 u_j$ ,  $u_i v_1 v_3 v_4 v_2 u_j$  and  $u_i v_1 v_4 v_3 v_2 u_j$  instead of the path  $u_i u u_j$ . According to (4.7), there are at least

$$\left(\frac{3(k-6)^2 - 4}{4(k-6)(k-7)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S = \left(\frac{3k^2 - 36k + 104}{4k(k-1)}\right) S$$

cycles in G that for some  $i \in A_{\ell}$  and  $j \in A_m$  with  $\ell \neq m$  pass through a path  $u_i u u_j$ .

• There are 7 new cycles in H spanned by the vertices  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$ .

By all of the observations above, the number of cycles in H is

$$\begin{split} C(H) &\geq C(G) - S + \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right)S + 4\left(\frac{3k^2 - 48k + 104}{4k(k-1)}\right)S + 7\\ &= C(G) + 7 + S\left(\frac{3(k-4)(k-12)}{k(k-1)}\right)\\ &> C(G). \end{split}$$

Therefore, H has more cycles than G.

By inspection, for m = 7 the graphs that have the most cycles are  $K_4$  plus an edge and  $K_4$  with one edge replaced by a path of length two. In the first case the minimum degree is one and in the second case the minimum degree is two.

Tsaturian and I stated the following theorem in [9], but we didn't present the proof in the paper. Here the proof is added for completeness.

**Theorem 4.2.4** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). If m > 7 and C(G) = C(m), then  $\delta(G) \ge 3$ .

*Proof.* Assume the contrary, namely that there exists a graph G with m > 7 edges and C(m) cycles, such that  $\delta(G) \leq 2$ . Let m > 7 and let G be a graph having the least number of vertices of degree two among all graphs having C(m) cycles.

First, assume that G is connected (otherwise, identifying a pair of different vertices from one component with a pair of different vertices from another component increases the number of cycles in G.)

Also, assume that G does not contain a vertex of degree one. Indeed, if u is a vertex of degree 1, and  $G \setminus \{u\}$  is not a complete graph, then deleting the edge from u and adding it to  $G \setminus \{u\}$  increases the number of cycles. If  $G \setminus \{u\}$  is a complete graph, and  $vu \in E(G)$ , then the graph obtained from G by deleting two edges  $vv_1$ ,  $vv_2$  and adding the edges  $uv_1$ ,  $uv_2$  has more cycles than G.

Hence, assume that  $\delta(G) = 2$  and let u be a vertex of degree 2 in G. Let  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  be the neighbours of u in G. Assume that  $u_1u_2 \in E(G)$  (otherwise the graph H that is obtained from a graph G by deleting the edge  $uu_1$  and adding the edge  $u_1u_2$  has the same number of cycles as G and the vertex u has degree 1).

There are four cases to consider:

Case 1:  $\deg(u_1) = 2$  or  $\deg(u_2) = 2$ .

Without loss of generality assume that  $\deg(u_1) = 2$ . Since G is connected,  $\deg(u_2) \ge 3$ . If  $G \setminus \{u, u_1\}$  is a complete graph, let  $v_1, v_2$  be two vertices of  $G \setminus \{u, u_1, u_2\}$ . Then the graph H obtained from G by deleting the edges  $uu_1, u_1u_2$  and adding the edges  $uv_1, uv_2$  has at least 2 more cycles than G. In the case when  $G \setminus \{u, u_1\}$  is not a complete graph, let  $v_1, v_2$  be two nonadjacent vertices of  $G \setminus \{u, u_1, u_2\}$ . Then the graph H obtained from G by deleting the edges  $uu_1, uu_2, u_1u_2$  and adding the edges  $uv_1, uv_2, v_1v_2$  has more cycles than G.

Case 2:  $\deg(u_1) = \deg(u_2) = 3$  and there is a vertex  $u_3 \neq u$ , such that  $u_1u_3, u_2u_3 \in E(G)$ .

In this case, the only cycles in G that pass through at least one of the vertices u,  $u_1$  or  $u_2$  are cycles  $uu_1u_2u$ ,  $uu_1u_3u_2u$  and  $u_1u_2u_3u_1$ .

Let  $v_1v_2$  be an edge of  $G \setminus \{u, u_1, u_2\}$ , then the graph H obtained from G by deleting the edges  $uu_1$ ,  $uu_2$ ,  $u_1u_3$ ,  $u_2u_3$  and adding the edges  $u_1v_1$ ,  $u_1v_2$ ,  $u_2v_1$ ,  $u_2v_2$ has at least four more cycles than G (see Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Case 2. Constructing the graph H.

Case 3:  $\deg(u_1) = \deg(u_2) = 3$  and there exist two distinct vertices  $u_3$  and  $u_4$ (different from u), such that  $u_1u_3, u_2u_4 \in E(G)$ .

In this case, the only cycle in G that contains the path  $u_1uu_2$ , but does not contain the path  $u_3u_1uu_2u_4$  is the cycle  $u_1uu_2u_1$ .

Then the graph H obtained from G by deleting the edges  $uu_1$ ,  $uu_2$  and adding

the edges  $u_1u_4$  and  $u_2u_3$  has more cycles than G (see Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Case 3. Constructing the graph H.

Case 4:  $\deg(u_1) \ge 4$  or  $\deg(u_2) \ge 4$ .

Assume that  $\deg(u_1) \geq 4$  and let  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  be the other two neighbours of  $u_1$ (different from  $u_2$  and u). Consider the graph H obtained from G by deleting the edge  $u_1v_2$  and adding the edge  $uv_2$ . Every cycle in G that did not pass through edge  $u_1v_2$  is still a cycle in H. Cycles in G that contain an edge  $u_1v_2$  and do not contain the vertex u correspond to the cycles in H that use the path  $u_1uv_2$  instead of an edge  $u_1v_2$ . Every cycle in G through the path  $u_2uu_1v_2$  corresponds to the cycle in Hthat uses the path  $u_2uv_2$  instead.

Therefore, the number of cycles in H is at least C(G) = C(m).

If there is at least one path P from  $v_2$  to  $N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2, v_2\}$  that does not use vertices  $\{u_1, u_2\}$ , then  $uPu_1u_2u$  is a new cycle in H; hence H has more cycles than G.

Assume that for all  $v \in N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2\}$ , any path from v to  $N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2, v\}$ in G omits both vertices  $u_1$  and  $u_2$ . Therefore, for any  $v \in N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2\}$  any cycle that contains the edge  $u_1v$  also contains the vertex  $u_2$ . By symmetry, for any  $v \in N(u_2) \setminus \{u, u_1\}$ , any cycle that contains the edge  $u_2v$  also contains the vertex  $u_1$ . Also, assume that G has no cut vertices, (deletion of which makes G disconnected) otherwise identifying two vertices from different components produces a graph with more cycles.

If there is  $v \in N(u_1) \bigtriangleup N(u_2) \setminus \{u_1, u_2\}$ , assume that  $vu_1 \in E(G)$ , then  $vu_2 \notin G$ and any cycle containing the edge  $vu_1$  is of length at least 4. There is no path from vto  $N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2, v\}$  that does not use the vertices  $\{u_1, u_2\}$ , so there is no cycle that contains the vertices  $u_1$  and v, but does not contain the edge  $u_1v$ . Then the graph H obtained from G by contracting the edge  $u_1v$  and adding an edge anywhere else in a graph has more cycles than G.

If  $N(u_1) \triangle N(u_2) \setminus \{u_1, u_2\} = \emptyset$ , then the condition that for any  $v \in N(u_1) \setminus \{u, u_2\}$ , there is no path from v to  $N(u_1)$  together with the observation that the deletion of the vertex v does not disconnect the graph G yields that  $\deg(v) = 2$ . Hence, G is the graph obtained by gluing k > 3 triangles by an edge. In this case G has  $k + \binom{k}{2}$ cycles. However, the graph H obtained from G by removing the common edge from all triangles and adding it to different place in the graph has  $\binom{k}{2} + 2(k-2) + 3$  cycles.

This finishes the last case and the proof of Theorem 4.2.4.  $\hfill \Box$ 

### 4.3 Counting Lemma

The main result of this section is Lemma 4.3.1, which is the major tool used for the upper bounds in this chapter and in Chapter 5.

Multigraphs are defined as in Bollobás's book [14]. Let G be a multigraph, the degree deg<sub>G</sub>(V) of a vertex  $v \in V(G)$  is the number of edges incident to v. For two vertices  $u, v \in V(G)$ , denote by E(u, v) the set of all edges between u and v. For a vertex  $v \in V(G)$ , denote by N(v) the set of all vertices adjacent to v (by at least one edge). A cycle of length  $k \geq 2$  in a multigraph G is an alternating sequence of k distinct vertices and k distinct edges  $v_1, e_1, v_2, e_2, \ldots, e_k, v_1$ , where for each  $i \in [k]$ ,  $v_i \in V(G), e_i \in E(G)$  and any consecutive vertex and edge are incident. As in the case of simple graphs, denote the number of cycles in a multigraph G by C(G). No loop can be a part of a cycle, hence only multigraphs without loops are considered.

Lemma 4.3.1 (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let G be a multigraph with n vertices. For any  $\ell \in [n]$ , and any vertices  $v_1, \ldots, v_\ell \in V(G)$ , define  $F(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell) =$  $N(v_\ell) \setminus \{v_1, \ldots, v_{\ell-1}\}$  and define  $f(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell) = \max\{\deg_{G \setminus \{v_2, \ldots, v_{\ell-1}\}}(v_\ell), 1\}$ . Denote the number of cycles in G that contain the path  $v_1 e_1 v_2 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell$  by  $C(v_1 e_1 v_2 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell)$ (note that  $C(v_1)$  is the number of cycles containing the vertex  $v_1$ ). For brevity, write  $F_\ell = F(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell), f_\ell = f(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell), C_\ell = C(v_1 e_1 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell)$ . For a  $k \in [n]$ , let  $v_1e_1v_2e_2\ldots v_k$  be a path in G. If  $F_k \neq \emptyset$ , then

$$C_k \leq f_k \cdot \max_{\substack{k+1 \leq t \leq n \\ v_{k+1} \in F_k}} \{f_{k+1} \cdot f_{k+2} \cdots f_t\}.$$
  
$$\vdots$$
  
$$v_t \in F_{t-1}$$

(the maximum is taken over all paths  $v_{k+1} \dots v_t$ , such that  $v_1 \dots v_k e_k v_{k+1} \dots v_t$  extends  $v_1 \dots v_k$ )

*Proof.* Fix  $n \ge 2$ . Let G be a multigraph on n vertices. The proof is by mathematical induction on  $\ell = n - k$ .

Base case. Let  $\ell = 1$ . Let  $v_1 e_1 \dots v_{n-1}$  be a path in G;  $C_{n-1}$  is to be bounded.

The condition  $F_{n-1} \neq \emptyset$  means that  $F_{n-1} = \{v_n\}$  and it remains to be proved that  $C_{n-1} \leq f_{n-1}f_n$ . Let s be the number of edges between  $v_{n-1}$  and  $v_1$ . Then  $C_{n-1} \leq s + (f_{n-1} - s)f_n$ . By definition,  $f_n \geq 1$ ; therefore  $s + (f_{n-1} - s)f_n \leq$  $sf_n + (f_{n-1} - s)f_n = f_{n-1}f_n$ , which proves the base case.

Inductive step. Let  $i \in [n-1]$ . Assume that the statement of the lemma holds for  $\ell = i$ , and prove it for  $\ell = i + 1$ ; i.e., let  $v_1 e_1 \dots v_{n-i-1}$  be a path in G, and  $C_{n-i-1} = C(v_1 e_1 \dots e_{n-i-2} v_{n-i-1})$  is to be bounded.

Let s be the number of edges between  $v_{n-i-1}$  and  $v_1$ . Then

$$C_{n-i-1} = s + \sum_{\substack{v_{n-i} \in F_{n-i} \\ e_{n-i-1} \in E(v_{n-i}, v_{n-i-1})}} C(v_1 e_1 \dots v_{n-i-1} e_{n-i-1} v_{n-i}).$$

For all possible choices of  $v_{n-i}$  and  $e_{n-i-1}$ , according to inductive hypothesis,

$$C(v_{1}e_{1}\dots e_{n-i-1}v_{n-i}) \leq \begin{cases} f_{n-i}\max_{\substack{n-i+1\leq t\leq n\\v_{n-i+1}\in F_{n-i}}} \{f_{n-i+1}\cdots f_{t}\}, \text{ if } F_{n-i}\neq \emptyset\\ \vdots\\ v_{t}\in F_{t-1}\\ f_{n-i}, \text{ if } F_{n-i}=\emptyset\\ \leq \max_{\substack{n-i\leq t\leq n\\v_{n-i}\in F_{n-i-1}\\\vdots\\v_{t}\in F_{t-1}}} \{f_{n-i}\cdots f_{t}\}.$$

Therefore,

$$C_{n-i-1} \le s + (f_{n-i-1} - s) \cdot \max_{\substack{n-i \le t \le n \\ v_{n-i} \in F_{n-i-1}}} \{f_{n-i} \cdots f_t\}$$
  
$$\le f_{n-i-1} \cdot \max_{\substack{n-i \le t \le n \\ v_{n-i} \in F_{n-i-1}}} \{f_{n-i} \cdots f_t\}.$$
  
$$\vdots$$
  
$$v_t \in F_{t-1}$$

This proves that the statement of the lemma holds for  $\ell = i + 1$ , and therefore by induction, the statement holds for all  $\ell \in [n - 1]$ .

## 4.4 Upper bound for number of cycles in graphs or multigraphs

The main result of this section is Theorem 4.4.2, where an upper bound for the number of cycles in a graph (or a multigraph) with a fixed number of vertices and edges is given.

The proof of Theorem 4.4.2 relies on the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.4.1** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let G be a multigraph with  $n \ge 3$ vertices and m edges, and let  $v_1$  be a vertex in G of degree  $\Delta(G)$ .

If 
$$\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$$
, and  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s$ ,  $\frac{m}{n-1} - s = \alpha$ , then there are at most  
 $\frac{\Delta(G)}{2} (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1}$  cycles in G that contain  $v_1$ .  
If  $\frac{m}{n-1} < 3$ , then there are at most  $\frac{\Delta(G)}{2} \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m$  cycles in G that contain  $v_1$ .

*Proof.* Let G be a multigraph with  $n \geq 3$  vertices and m edges, and let  $v_1$  be a vertex of degree  $\Delta(G)$ .

For any edge  $e = v_1 v_2$  incident with  $v_1$ , by Lemma 4.3.1, the number of cycles that contain e is at most

$$f_{2} \cdot \max_{\substack{3 \le t \le n \\ v_{3} \in F_{2}}} \{f_{3} \cdots f_{t}\} \le \max_{\substack{2 \le t \le n \\ v_{2} \in F_{1}}} \{f_{2} \cdots f_{t}\}.$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vdots$$

$$v_{t} \in F_{t-1}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$v_{t} \in F_{t-1}$$

Every cycle through  $v_1$  contains two edges incident to  $v_1$ ; therefore the number of cycles that contain  $v_1$  is at most

$$\frac{\Delta}{2} \cdot \max_{\substack{2 \le t \le n \\ v_2 \in F_1}} \{ f_2 \cdots f_t \}.$$

$$\vdots$$

$$v_t \in F_{t-1}$$

$$(4.8)$$

Let  $v_2, \ldots v_t$  be a collection of vertices that give the maximum in (4.8) with the smallest possible t. Then  $f_t \ge 2$  (otherwise remove all  $f_i = 1$  after the last  $f_k \ge 2$  to obtain the smaller collection of vertices that gives maximum in (4.8)). Then for all  $2 \le i \le t,$ 

$$f_i = \deg_{G \setminus \{v_2, \dots, v_{i-1}\}}(v_i).$$

For  $2 \leq i \leq t$ , all of the edge sets  $\{v_i u \in E(G) : u \in V(G) \setminus \{v_2, \ldots, v_i\}\}$  are mutually disjoint, so  $f_2 + \cdots + f_t \leq m$ . Therefore,

$$\frac{\Delta}{2} f_2 \cdots f_t \le \frac{\Delta}{2} \cdot \max_{\substack{2 \le t \le n \\ x_2 + \ldots + x_t \le m, \\ \forall i \in [2,t], x_i \in \mathbb{Z}^+}} \{x_2 \cdot x_3 \cdots x_t\}.$$

So the number of cycles in G that contain  $v_1$  is at most

$$\frac{\Delta}{2} \cdot \max_{\substack{2 \le t \le n \\ x_2 + \dots + x_t \le m, \\ \forall i \in [2,t], x_i \in \mathbb{Z}^+}} \{x_2 \cdot x_3 \cdots x_t\}.$$
(4.9)

For a fixed t, the product  $x_2 \cdots x_t$  in (4.9) attains its maximum when  $x_i$ s  $(i \ge 2)$ are as equal as possible (for all  $i, j |x_i - x_j| \le 1$ ), and their sum is equal to m. Let  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s, \frac{m}{n-1} = s + \alpha.$ 

If  $s \ge 3$  (which is equivalent to  $\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$ ), let the maximum in (4.9) be achieved for some  $t \le n$  and let  $x_2, \ldots, x_t$  be a collection of  $x_i$ s that gives the maximum in (4.9). If t < n, then  $s \ge 3$  implies that either for some  $i \in [t]$ ,  $x_i \ge 5$ , or for two different  $i, j \in [t]$ ,  $x_i = x_j = 4$ . In the first case, replacing  $x_i$  by  $x_i - 2$  and setting  $x_{t+1} = 2$  gives a collection of  $x_i$ s with a larger product. In the second case, setting  $x_i = x_j = 3$  and  $x_{t+1} = 2$  increases the product of  $x_i$ s. Hence, the maximum in (4.9) is achieved when t = n. For all  $2 \le i \le n$ ,  $x_i = s$  or  $x_i = s + 1$ . Then the number of cycles in G that pass through  $v_1$  is at most

$$\frac{\Delta}{2}x_2\cdots x_n = \frac{\Delta}{2}s^{(1-\alpha)(n-1)}(s+1)^{\alpha(n-1)} = \frac{\Delta}{2}(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1}.$$

If s < 3, let the maximum of (4.9) be achieved for some  $2 \le t \le n$  and let  $x_2, \ldots, x_t$  be the collection of  $x_i$ s that gives the maximum in (4.9). Recall that for all  $i, j, |x_i - x_j| \le 1$ . If for two different  $i, j \in [t] x_i = x_j > 3$ , then m > 6+3(t-2) = 3t, and s < 3 implies that t < n. Replacing  $x_i$  by  $x_i - 1, x_j$  by  $x_j - 1$  and setting  $x_{t+1} = 2$  increases the product. Therefore, there is at most one i, such that  $x_i = 4$ . If there is i such that  $x_i = 1$ , then replacing any  $x_j$   $(j \neq i)$  by  $x_j + 1$  and deleting  $x_i$  increases the product. If for some  $i, j, k \in [t] x_i = x_j = x_k = 2$ , then replacing  $x_i$  by  $3, x_j$  by 3 and deleting  $x_k$  increases the product. Therefore,  $\{x_2, \ldots, x_t\} \in \{\{3, 3, \ldots, 3, 2\}, \{3, 3, \ldots, 3, 4\}, \{3, 3, \ldots, 3, 2\}, \{3, 3, \ldots, 3\}\}$ . Then  $x_2 \ldots x_t$  is at most  $3^{\frac{m}{3}}$ , so the number of cycles that pass through  $v_1$  is at most

$$x_2 \cdots x_t \le \frac{\Delta}{2} 3^{\frac{m}{3}}.$$

**Theorem 4.4.2** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let G be a multigraph with  $n \ge 2$  vertices and m edges.

 $\frac{\Delta}{2}$ 

If  $\frac{m}{n-1} < 3$ , then

$$C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

If  $\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$ , and  $\left\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \right\rfloor = s$ ,  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - s$ , then

$$C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1} = \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)((s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{s+\alpha}})^{m}$$

*Proof.* The proof is by mathematical induction on n.

Base case. If n = 2, there is only one multigraph on n vertices with m edges, namely

two vertices connected by m edges. In this case  $s = \frac{m}{n-1} = m$ , and G has  $\max\{\binom{m}{2}, 0\}$  cycles, which is less than  $\frac{3}{4}m(\sqrt[3]{3})^m$  (for the case m < 3), and less than  $\frac{3}{4}m \cdot m$  (for the case  $m \geq 3$ ).

Inductive step. Let  $k \ge 3$  be an integer, and suppose that the statement of the theorem is proved for n = k - 1. Let G be a multigraph with k vertices, m edges and let  $v_1$  be a vertex of the maximal degree in G. There are two cases to consider.

Case 1:  $\frac{m}{k-1} < 3$ .

If  $\Delta(G) \leq 2$ , then every edge is contained in at most one cycle, and every cycle contains at least two edges, so the number of cycles in G is at most

$$\frac{m}{2} \le \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

If  $\Delta(G) \geq 3$ , then the multigraph  $G \setminus v_1$  has at most m-3 edges,  $\Delta(G \setminus v_1) \leq \Delta(G)$ and  $\frac{|E(G \setminus v_1)|}{|V(G \setminus v_1)| - 1} \leq \frac{m}{k-1} < 3$ , therefore, by the inductive assumption, the number of cycles in  $G \setminus v_1$  is at most  $\frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^{m-3}$ . By Lemma 4.4.1, the number of cycles that contain  $v_1$  is at most  $\frac{\Delta(G)}{2} \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m$ , therefore the total number of cycles in G is at most

$$\frac{\Delta(G)}{2} \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m + \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^{m-3} = \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m$$

Case 2:  $\frac{m}{k-1} \ge 3$ .

Let  $s = \lfloor \frac{m}{k-1} \rfloor$ ,  $\alpha = \frac{m}{k-1} - \lfloor \frac{m}{k-1} \rfloor$ . Note that  $\Delta(G \setminus v_1) \le \Delta(G)$  and let

$$y = \frac{|E(G \setminus v_1)|}{|V(G \setminus v_1)| - 1} \le \frac{m}{k - 1}.$$

The function

$$f(x) = (\lfloor x \rfloor)^{1-x+\lfloor x \rfloor} (\lfloor x \rfloor + 1)^{x-\lfloor x \rfloor}$$

is non-decreasing on every interval  $[a, a + 1], a \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  (and hence on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ ); therefore

$$s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha} \ge f(3) = 3.$$
 (4.10)

If  $y \ge 3$ , then, by the induction hypothesis,

$$|E(G \setminus v_1)| \le \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) \left( (\lfloor y \rfloor)^{1-y+\lfloor y \rfloor} (\lfloor y \rfloor + 1)^{y-\lfloor y \rfloor} \right)^{k-2}$$
$$\le \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-2}.$$

If y < 3, then  $|E(G \setminus v_1)| < 3(k-2)$ , and by the induction hypothesis

$$|E(G \setminus v_1)| \le \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (\sqrt[3]{3})^{|E(G \setminus v_1)|} < \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (\sqrt[3]{3})^{3(k-2)}$$
$$= \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) \cdot 3^{k-2} \le \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-2}$$

Hence, for any y,  $|E(G \setminus v_1)| \leq \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-2}$ , which together with Lemma 4.4.1 and (4.10) implies that

$$\begin{split} C(G) &= \frac{3\Delta(G)}{4} (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-2} + \frac{\Delta(G)}{2} (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-1} \\ &\leq \frac{3\Delta(G)}{4} (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{k-1}, \end{split}$$

which proves the inductive step and hence the theorem.

A consequence of Theorem 4.4.2 is

Corollary 4.4.3 (Arman-Tsaturian,  $2017^+$  [9]). For any positive integer m

$$C(m) < 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m$$

*Proof.* Let G be a graph with n vertices and m edges, such that C(G) = C(m).

If  $\frac{m}{n-1} < 3$ , then, by Theorem 4.2.3 and 4.4.2,

$$C(m) = C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(\sqrt[3]{3})^m \le 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

So suppose that  $\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$ . Let  $f(s, \alpha) = (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{s+\alpha}}$ , then for any s > 0,  $f(s, \alpha)$  is monotone in  $\alpha$  and  $\max_{s \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \alpha \in [0,1)} f(s, \alpha) = \max_{s \in \mathbb{Z}_+} s^{\frac{1}{s}} = \sqrt[3]{3}$ . This, together with Theorem 4.4.2 and Theorem 4.2.3, implies that for  $s = \lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor$  and  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - \lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor$ 

$$C(m) = C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)((s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{s+\alpha}})^m \le 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

г		٦	
L			
-	-		

Theorem 4.4.2 is stated in rather technical terms, so the following corollary is intended to be a more readable version of Theorem 4.4.2. This corollary is stated in the paper [9], but the proof does not appear there, so I add the proof here for completeness.

**Corollary 4.4.4** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let G be a graph on n vertices with average degree  $d \ge 6$ . Then

$$C(G) < 3\Delta(G) \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^{n-1}.$$

*Proof.* Let G be a graph with n vertices, m edges and the average degree  $d \ge 6$ . Then  $\frac{m}{n-1} > \frac{m}{n} = \frac{d}{2} \ge 3$ , so Theorem 4.4.2 implies that for  $s = \lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor$  and  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - s$ 

$$C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1}.$$

Here, the weighted AM-GM inequality can be used to prove that

$$s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha} \le \frac{m}{n-1}.$$
(\*)

Alternatively, it is easy to verify that for a fixed  $s \ge 3$  the function  $f(\alpha) = s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha}$  is convex, and so for  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ ,  $f(\alpha) \le (1-\alpha)f(0) + \alpha f(1)$ . Therefore

$$s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha} \le (1-\alpha)s + \alpha(s+1) = \frac{m}{n-1}.$$

Finally,

$$C(G) \leq \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1}$$
  

$$\leq \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) \left(\frac{m}{n-1}\right)^{n-1} \qquad (by (\star))$$
  

$$\leq \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)^{n-1} \left(\frac{n}{n-1}\right)^{n-1}$$
  

$$\leq 3\Delta(G) \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^{n-1}.$$

(The last inequality is based on the fact that for  $n \ge 2$ ,  $\left(1 + \frac{1}{n-1}\right)^{n-1}$  is an increasing function and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{n-1}\right)^{n-1} = e$ .)

### 4.5 Example of a graph with $(1.37)^m$ cycles

For  $n \ge 1$  let  $H_n$  be the graph on 2n + 2 vertices with

$$V(H_n) = \{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_{n+1}, v_1, v_2, \dots, v_{n+1}\}$$
 and

$$E(H_n) = \{u_i v_j : i, j \in [n+1], |i-j| \le 1\} \cup \{u_i u_{i+1} : i \in [n]\} \cup \{v_i v_{i+1} : i \in [n]\}.$$

For example, see Figure 4.4 for  $H_{12}$ .



Figure 4.4: The graph  $H_{12}$ .

Claim 4.5.1 (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). For  $n \ge 1$  denote by P(n) the number of paths from the vertex  $u_1$  to the vertex  $u_{n+1}$  in  $H_n$ . For all  $n \ge 2$ ,

$$P(n) = 4P(n-1) + 4P(n-2).$$

Note that P(n) is also equal to the number of paths from  $u_1$  to  $v_{n+1}$  in  $H_n$ .

*Proof sketch.* The proof of the claim relies on an inductive argument and an observation that each path from  $u_1$  to  $u_{n+1}$  in  $H_n$  corresponds to exactly one of the following eight types of paths:

- A path from  $u_1$  to  $u_n$  in  $H_{n-1}$  followed by the path  $u_n u_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $u_n$  in  $H_{n-1}$  followed by the path  $u_n v_{n+1} u_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $v_n$  in  $H_{n-1}$  followed by the path  $v_n u_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $v_n$  in  $H_{n-1}$  followed by the path  $v_n v_{n+1} u_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $u_{n-1}$  in  $H_{n-2}$  followed by the path  $u_{n-1}u_nv_{n+1}v_nu_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $u_{n-1}$  in  $H_{n-2}$  followed by the path  $u_{n-1}v_nv_{n+1}u_nu_{n+1}$ .

- A path from  $u_1$  to  $v_{n-1}$  in  $H_{n-2}$  followed by the path  $v_{n-1}u_nv_{n+1}v_nu_{n+1}$ .
- A path from  $u_1$  to  $v_{n-1}$  in  $H_{n-2}$  followed by the path  $v_{n-1}v_nv_{n+1}u_nu_{n+1}$ .

Also, note that P(0) = 1, P(1) = 5. Solving the recurrence relation P(n) = 4P(n-1) + 4P(n-2) leads to the inequality

$$P(n) \ge (2 + 2\sqrt{2})^n.$$

Define the graph  $G_n$  by identifying the vertices  $u_1$  and  $u_n$  in  $H_n$  (see Figure 4.5 for  $G_{12}$ ). Then  $G_n$  has 2n + 1 vertices, m = 5n + 1 edges and

$$C(G_n) \ge (2 + 2\sqrt{2})^n.$$



Figure 4.5:  $G_{12}$  with 25 vertices and 61 edges.

For an integer m, let the graph G be obtained from  $G_{\lfloor \frac{m-1}{5} \rfloor}$  by adding  $(m - 5\lfloor \frac{m-1}{5} \rfloor - 1)$  edges (anywhere). Then G has m edges and for m large enough (for m > 16855)

$$C(G) \ge C(G_{\lfloor \frac{m-1}{5} \rfloor}) \ge (2+2\sqrt{2})^{\lfloor \frac{m-1}{5} \rfloor} \ge (2+2\sqrt{2})^{\frac{m}{5}-1} > 1.37^{m}.$$

### 4.6 Lower bound for the number of cycles with given number of vertices and edges

In this section the lower bound for the number of cycles in a graph G with n vertices and m edges is established. This result was never published before, but was discovered by myself and Tsaturian independently.

**Theorem 4.6.1** (Arman, Tsaturian, 2017). If d = d(n) is such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) = \infty$ , then there exists a graph G with n vertices and average degree d, such that

$$C(G) \ge \left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n (1+o(1))^n.$$

If d > 1 is fixed, then for  $c = \frac{d}{2}$ ,  $\alpha = 1 - \frac{1}{d}$  and n large enough, there exists a graph G with n vertices and average degree d such that

$$C(G) \ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{c^c 2^{\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)} (c-\alpha)^{c-\alpha}}\right)^n.$$

*Proof.* The statement of the theorem follows from an averaging argument for graphs on *n* vertices and *m* edges. Let  $c = \frac{d}{2} = c(n)$ , then m = cn. Let  $N = \binom{n}{2}$ . Let *E* be the average of the number of cycles in all graphs with n vertices and m edges. The lower bound on E is obtained below. First,

$$E = \sum_{k=3}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \frac{k!}{2k} \binom{N-k}{m-k} / \binom{N}{m} = \sum_{k=3}^{n} \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} \frac{1}{2k} \binom{N-k}{m-k} / \binom{N}{m}.$$

To simplify calculations, for  $3 \le k \le n$ , put

$$a_k = \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} \frac{1}{2k} \binom{N-k}{m-k} / \binom{N}{m}.$$

Let  $\alpha = 1 - \frac{1}{2c} + o(1)$ , be such that  $\alpha n$  is an integer, then

$$\begin{split} E &= \sum_{k=3}^{n} a_{k} \ge a_{\alpha n} \\ &= \frac{n!}{(n-\alpha n)!} \frac{1}{2\alpha n} \binom{N-\alpha n}{m-\alpha n} / \binom{N}{m} \\ &= \frac{n!}{(n-\alpha n)!} \frac{1}{2\alpha n} \binom{N-\alpha n}{(n-\alpha n)} / \binom{N}{(n)} \\ &\ge (1+o(1))^{n} \frac{\binom{n}{e}^{n}}{\binom{(1-\alpha)^{n}}{(1-\alpha)^{n}} \frac{(N-\alpha n)!(cn)!}{((c-\alpha)n)!N!} \\ &\ge (1+o(1))^{n} \frac{n^{\alpha n}}{e^{\alpha n} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)n}} \frac{\binom{(n)}{(2}-\alpha n)!(cn)!}{((c-\alpha)n)!\binom{n}{2}!} \\ &\ge (1+o(1))^{n} \frac{n^{\alpha n}}{e^{\alpha n} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)n}} \frac{\binom{(n)}{2}-\alpha n}{\binom{n}{2}} \frac{e^{\alpha n}((c-\alpha)n)(c-\alpha)n}{\binom{n}{2}} \\ &= (1+o(1))^{n} \frac{n^{\alpha n}}{(e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)})^{n}} \frac{(1-\frac{2\alpha}{n-1})^{\binom{n}{2}-\alpha n}}{\binom{n}{2}} n^{\alpha n} \left(\frac{(c)^{c}}{(c-\alpha)^{(c-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &= (1+o(1))^{n} n^{\alpha n} \left(\frac{2^{\alpha}}{e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \frac{(1-\frac{2\alpha}{n-1})^{\binom{n-2\alpha}{2}}(\alpha - \frac{2\alpha^{2}n}{n-1})}{n^{2\alpha n} (1-\frac{1}{n})^{\alpha n}} n^{\alpha n} \left(\frac{(c)^{c}}{(c-\alpha)^{(c-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\ge (1+o(1))^{n} \left(\frac{2^{\alpha}}{e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} e^{-\alpha n} \left(\frac{(c)^{c}}{(c-\alpha)^{(c-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\ge (1+o(1))^{n} \left(\frac{c^{2\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} e^{-\alpha n} \left(\frac{(c)^{c}}{(c-\alpha)^{(c-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1))^{n} \left(\frac{c^{2\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1))^{n} \left(\frac{(c-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1)^{n} \left(\frac{(c-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1)^{n} \left(\frac{(c-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}{e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1)^{n} \left(\frac{(c-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}{e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}\right)^{n} \\ &\le (1+o(1)^{n} \left(\frac{(c-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}{e^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)$$
If  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) = \infty$ , then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} c(n) = \infty$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \alpha(n) = 1$  and

$$E \ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{c^{\alpha}2^{\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha}(1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}} \left(1+\frac{\alpha}{c-\alpha}\right)^{c-\alpha}\right)^n$$
$$\ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{c^{\alpha}2^{\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha}(1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)}}e^{\alpha}\right)^n.$$
$$\ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{2c}{e}\right)^n.$$
$$= (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n.$$

If  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) \neq \infty$ , then

$$E \ge (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{c^{c}2^{\alpha}}{e^{2\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{(1-\alpha)} (c-\alpha)^{c-\alpha}}\right)^n.$$

4.7	Maximum	number	of	cycles	in	multigraph	ıs
-----	---------	--------	----	--------	----	------------	----

The problems of maximizing the number of cycles with a fixed number of edges or a fixed average degree can be also considered for multigraphs.

**Theorem 4.7.1** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). Let G be a multigraph that has the maximum number of cycles among all the multigraphs with  $n \ge 2$  vertices and  $m \ge 3$ edges. Let  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s$ , and put  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - s$ . If  $\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$ , then  $\frac{8}{27}s(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1} \le C(G) \le \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G)(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1}$ .

If  $\frac{m}{n-1} \leq 3$ , then

$$4(\sqrt[3]{3})^{m-4} \le C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m.$$

Theorem 4.7.1 was stated in the paper [9], but was not proven. Here I present the proof of Theorem 4.7.1.

*Proof.* The upper bounds in Theorem 4.7.1 follow directly from Theorem 4.4.2.

Define  $C_{n,m}$  to be the multigraph obtained from the cycle  $C_n$  by replacing each of some  $m - \lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor n$  consecutive edges with  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor + 1$  multi-edges and the remaining  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor n - m + n$  edges with  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor$  multi-edges.

Lower bound for case  $\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$ :

Let  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s$ ,  $\frac{m}{n-1} = s + \alpha$ . If  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor = s$ , then  $\frac{m}{n} = s + \alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}$  and

$$C(C_{n,m}) = \left(s^{1-\left(\alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}\right)}(s+1)^{\alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}}\right)^{n}$$
  
=  $\left(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha}\right)^{n} s^{\frac{m}{n-1}}(s+1)^{-\frac{m}{n-1}}$   
=  $\left(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha}\right)^{n-1} s^{1-\alpha + \frac{m}{n-1}}(s+1)^{\alpha - \frac{m}{n-1}}$   
=  $\left(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha}\right)^{n-1} s\left(\frac{s}{s+1}\right)^{s}$   
 $\ge \left(s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha}\right)^{n-1} \frac{s}{e}.$ 

(The last inequality holds, since  $(\frac{s}{s+1})^s$  is decreasing function and  $\lim_{s\to\infty}(\frac{s}{s+1})^s = \frac{1}{e}$ .) If  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s$ ,  $\frac{m}{n-1} = s + \alpha$  and  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n} \rfloor = s - 1$ , then  $\frac{m}{n} = (s-1) + \left(1 + \alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}\right)$  and

$$\begin{split} C(C_{n,m}) &= \left( (s-1)^{\frac{m}{n(n-1)} - \alpha} s^{1+\alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}} \right)^n \\ &= \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} (s+1)^{-\alpha} s^{2\alpha - \frac{m}{n(n-1)}} (s-1)^{\frac{m}{n(n-1)} - \alpha} \right)^n \\ &= \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} \right)^n \left( \left( \frac{s}{s+1} \right)^{\alpha} \left( \frac{s-1}{s} \right)^{\frac{m}{n(n-1)} - \alpha} \right)^n \\ &= \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} \right)^{n-1} s \left( \frac{s}{s+1} \right)^{\alpha(n-1)} \left( \frac{s-1}{s} \right)^{\frac{m}{n-1} - \alpha n} \\ &= \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} \right)^{n-1} s \left( \frac{s}{s+1} \right)^{\alpha(n-1)} \left( \frac{s-1}{s} \right)^{s-\alpha(n-1)} \\ &\geq \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} \right)^{n-1} s \left( \frac{s-1}{s} \right)^s \\ &\geq \frac{8s}{27} \left( s^{1-\alpha} (s+1)^{\alpha} \right)^{n-1} . \end{split}$$

(The last inequality holds, since  $(\frac{s-1}{s})^s$  is increasing function and  $s \ge 3$ .)

The lower bound in the case  $\frac{m}{n-1} \leq 3$  is achieved by the graph  $C_{\lfloor \frac{m+1}{3} \rfloor, m}$  with additional  $n - \lfloor \frac{m+1}{3} \rfloor$  isolated vertices.

To derive an upper bound for the number of cycles in a multigraph with m edges the following theorem (a direct analogue of Theorem 4.2.3) is used. This theorem has not yet been published, but its statement appeared (without proof) in [9].

**Theorem 4.7.2** (Arman-Tsaturian). Let G be a multigraph with m edges such that C(G) = C(m). Then  $\Delta(G) \leq 11$ .

*Proof.* The proof of Theorem 4.7.2 relies on Lemma 4.2.1 and 4.2.2.

Let m be a fixed positive integer and G be a multigraph with m edges. To prove

Theorem 4.2.3 it is sufficient to prove that if  $\Delta(G) \ge 12$ , then there is a multigraph H with m edges and with C(H) > C(G).

Let  $\Delta(G) \geq 12$ , and let u be a vertex of maximal degree in G. Let  $N'(u) = \{e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_k\}$  be the edge neighbourhood of u (note that  $k \geq 12$ ). Let  $N(u) = \{u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_k\}$  be a multiset, such that for any  $1 \leq i \leq k$ ,  $e_i = uu_i$ . For  $i, j \in [k], i \neq j$ , if  $u_i \neq u_j$  define  $w_{i,j}$  to be the number of paths from vertex  $u_i$  to vertex  $u_j$  in the graph  $G \setminus u$ , and if  $u_i = u_j$  let  $w_{i,j} = 0$ . Then the number of cycles in G that pass through the vertex u is equal to  $S = \sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq k} w_{i,j}$ . By Lemma 4.2.1, there is a six element set  $D = \{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_6\}$ , such that

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le k \\ i \notin D, j \notin D}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(1 - \frac{6(2k - 7)}{k(k - 1)}\right) S.$$

Suppose, upon re-indexing, that  $D = \{k - 5, k - 4, \dots, k - 1, k\}$ . Lemma 4.2.2 applied to the collection of real numbers  $w_{i,j}$  with  $1 \le i < j \le k - 6$  gives a partition  $\pi = A_1 \cup A_2 \cup A_3 \cup A_4$  of [k - 6] with

$$\sum_{1 \le \ell < m \le 4} \sum_{\substack{i \in A_{\ell} \\ j \in A_m}} w_{i,j} \ge \left(\frac{3(k-6)^2 - 4}{4(k-6)(k-7)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S.$$
(4.11)

For  $1 \leq i \leq 4$ , let  $U_i = \{u_j : j \in A_i\}$  ( $U_i$  is a multiset) and let  $E_i = \{uu_j : j \in A_i\}$ . Construct a graph H by deleting all of the edges incident to u; adding four new vertices  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$ , for all  $1 \leq i \leq 4$  adding the edges from  $v_i$  to each vertex of  $U_i$ , and for all  $1 \leq i < j \leq 4$  adding the edges  $v_i v_j$ . Then |E(H)| = |E(G)|.



Figure 4.6: Constructing the multigraph H.

To count the number of cycles in H, note the following:

- Every cycle in G that does not pass through the vertex u is still a cycle in H. There are C(G) - S such cycles.
- Let C be a cycle in G that for some  $1 \le i < j \le k-6$ , contains the path  $u_i u u_j$ . If for some  $\ell \in [4]$ ,  $u_i$  and  $u_j$  are in the same class  $U_\ell$ , then C corresponds to the cycle in H that uses the path  $u_i v_\ell u_j$  instead of  $u_i u u_j$ . In the case if for some  $1 \le l < m \le 4$ ,  $u_i \in U_\ell$  and  $u_j \in U_m$ , the cycle C corresponds to the cycle that uses the path  $u_i v_\ell v_m u_j$  instead of  $u_i u u_j$ . By Lemma 4.2.1, there are at least

$$\left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right)S$$

cycles in G that use a path  $u_i u u_j$  with  $u u_i, u u_j \in N'(u)$  and  $i, j \in [k-6]$ .

• Every cycle in G that for some  $i \in A_{\ell}$  and  $j \in A_m$  with  $\ell \neq m$  pass through the path  $u_i u u_j$  give rise to four additional cycles (except the one containing  $u_iv_1v_2u_j$ ): the ones containing the paths  $u_iv_1v_3v_2u_j$ ,  $u_iv_1v_4v_2u_j$ ,  $u_iv_1v_3v_4v_2u_j$ and  $u_iv_1v_4v_3v_2u_j$ . According to (4.11), there are at least

$$\left(\frac{3(k-6)^2 - 4}{4(k-6)(k-7)}\right) \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right) S = \left(\frac{3k^2 - 36k + 104}{4k(k-1)}\right) S$$

cycles in G that for some  $i \in A_{\ell}$  and  $j \in A_m$  with  $\ell \neq m$  pass through a path  $u_i u u_j$ .

• There are 7 new cycles in H spanned by the vertices  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$ .

By all of the observations above, the number of cycles in H is

$$\begin{split} C(H) &\geq C(G) - S + \left(1 - \frac{6(2k-7)}{k(k-1)}\right)S + \left(\frac{3k^2 - 48k + 104}{k(k-1)}\right)S + 7\\ &= C(G) + 7 + S\left(\frac{3k^2 - 36k + 104}{k(k-1)} - \frac{12k - 42}{k(k-1)}\right)\\ &= C(G) + 7 + S\left(\frac{3k^2 - 48k + 144}{k(k-1)}\right)\\ &= C(G) + 7 + S\left(\frac{3(k-4)(k-12)}{k(k-1)}\right)\\ &> C(G). \end{split}$$

Therefore, H has more cycles than G.

**Theorem 4.7.3** (Arman-Tsaturian,  $2017^+$  [9]). Let G be a multigraph with  $m \ge 3$ edges that has the maximum number of cycles among all the multigraphs with m edges. Then

$$\frac{9}{10}(\sqrt[3]{3})^m < 4(\sqrt[3]{3})^{m-4} \le C(G) \le 8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m$$

*Proof.* The upper bound in Theorem 4.7.3 is obtained by repeating the argument of Corollary 4.4.3 and using Theorem 4.7.2. The example that implies the lower bound is the same as for the second case of Theorem 4.7.1, namely  $C_{\lfloor \frac{m+1}{3} \rfloor,m}$  (see proof of Theorem 4.7.1 for definition).

Theorems 4.7.1 and 4.7.3 answer both questions of determining, up to a constant factor, the number of cycles for multigraphs with a given number of edges and with a given number of vertices and edges. I would like to conclude this section with saying that I believe that for  $m \ge 9$  the graph  $C_{\lfloor \frac{m+1}{3} \rfloor, m}$  has the most cycles among all multigraphs with m edges, since it is the graph, for which the lower bound in Theorem 4.7.3 is sharp.

#### 4.8 Concluding remarks

Theorem 4.4.2 gives an upper bound for the number of cycles in a graph G with n vertices and m edges. For a graph G with n vertices and the average degree  $d \ge 6$ , Corollary 4.4.4 implies

$$C(G) \le 3\Delta(G) \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^{n-1}$$

For  $d = \Omega(\ln n)$ , let G be a random graph G(n, p) with  $p = \frac{d}{n-1}$ . Glebov and Krivelevich [23] proved that asymptotically almost surely the number of cycles in G(n, p) is at least  $\left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n (1 + o(1))^n$ . Also, Theorem 4.6.1 implies that if G is a graph with the maximum number of cycles among all graphs with n vertices and average degree d = d(n) such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(n) = \infty$ , then for n large enough

$$\left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n (1+o(1))^n \le C(G) \le (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^n. \tag{**}$$

Inequality  $(\star\star)$  and the fact that  $C(K_n) \approx \frac{c}{\sqrt{n}} \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n$  for some constant c (see [10] for details) motivates the following conjecture.

**Conjecture 4.8.1** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). For any  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$  and integer n large enough, any graph G on n vertices with average degree  $d = \alpha n$  satisfies

$$C(G) \le (1+o(1))^n \left(\frac{d}{e}\right)^n.$$

As mentioned in the introduction, Theorem 4.4.3 and the result of Section 4.5 imply that  $1.37^m \le C(m) \le 1.443^m$ .

Király [30] proved that if G is a 4-regular graph, then there are constants  $c, \epsilon$ , such that  $C(G) \leq cn^2(2-\epsilon)^n$ ; he also conjectured that  $C(m) < 1.4^m$ . The upper bound in Corollary 4.4.3 is  $8.25(\sqrt[3]{3})^m$ , which inspires the following conjecture (directly contradicting Király's conjecture).

**Conjecture 4.8.2** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]). For sufficiently large m, there exists a graph G with m edges and at least  $(1 + o(1))^m (\sqrt[3]{3})^m$  cycles.

### Chapter 5

# Counting cycles in $K_r$ -free graphs

#### 5.1 Motivation

The authors of [10] posted a list of new conjectures.

**Conjecture 1.1.2** (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). For any k > 1, if an *n*-vertex graph  $C_{2k+1}$ -free graph has the maximum number of cycles, then  $G = K_{\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil, \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}$ .

Question 1.1.3 (Arman-Gunderson-Tsaturian, 2016 [10]). For  $k \ge 4$  what is the maximum number of cycles in a  $K_k$ -free graph on n vertices? Could it be that the cycle-maximal  $K_k$ -free graphs are indeed Turán graphs?

Shortly after submitting the paper [10], we received an email from Alex Scott [41] in which he informed that he and a student of his have proved Conjecture 1.1.2 and answered Question 1.1.3 affirmatively for n large enough, by using the Regularity Lemma [46]. Regularity Lemma implies that for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , graph H and integer kthere is an integer N, such that for any H-free graph G with  $n \ge k$  vertices there is integer  $\ell$ ,  $k \le \ell \le N$ , such that G can be made  $\ell$ -partite by deleting at most  $\epsilon n^2$ edges. Regularity Lemma potentially allows to reduce the problem of counting cycles in H-free graphs to the problem of counting cycles in  $\ell$ -partite graphs. Recall that a graph H is called edge-critical if there exists an edge, deletion of which reduces the chromatic number of H. Alex Scott states that if H is an edge-critical graph with chromatic number k, then there exists integer  $n_0$  so that for all integers  $n \ge n_0$  and any H-free graph G with n vertices

$$C(G) \le C(T(n, k-1)).$$

Result of Scott was not published at the time of the preparation of this thesis, however it inspired me to investigate Question 1.1.3 further. The first step toward such an investigation is an estimate on the number of cycles in a Turán graph, which is done in Section 5.2, namely in Theorems 5.2.2 and 5.2.6. A stability result (Theorem 5.3.2) for the number of cycles in  $K_r$ -free graphs is given in Section 5.3.

All of the theorems in Chapter 5 are the result of my original research. In Section 5.2 the question of estimating the number of cycles in a Turán graph is considered. The main result of Section 5.2 (Theorem 5.2.6) shows that for any positive integer r there exists a constant c = c(r), such that for n large enough,

$$C(T(n,r)) \ge \frac{c}{n^{\frac{2}{3}r^2 - \frac{r}{2} + 1}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n.$$

In Section 5.3 an estimate on the number of cycles in a  $K_r$ -free graph is given and the main result of Section 5.3 (Theorem 5.3.2) shows that for any positive integer rthere is positive integer  $n_0$ , such that any  $K_{r+1}$ -free graph G with  $n \ge n_0$  vertices and  $m \le t(n,r) - 2r^4n \ln n$  edges has fewer cycles than T(n,r).

# 5.2 Estimate on the number of cycles in a Turán graph

The main result of this section is Theorem 5.2.6, which is later used in Section 5.3. Theorem 5.2.2 provide useful upper bounds for the number of cycles in a Turán graph. The following lemma is used in the proof of Theorem 5.2.2.

**Lemma 5.2.1.** Let s(n) be the number of sequences of length n of symbols from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, ..., r\}$ , such that no two consecutive symbols are the same (n-th and 1-st symbols are also consecutive). Then

$$s(n) = (r-1)^n + (r-1)(-1)^n$$

This Lemma is one of the classical result about chromatic polynomials of a cycle, for reference see Birkhoff and Lewis paper [12] (thanks to Dr. Bill Kocay for pointing that this Lemma is a result about chromatic polynomials). Lemma 5.2.3 and Lemma 5.2.5 can also be rewritten in terms of colourings of a cycle. *Proof of Lemma.* The sequence s(n) satisfies the following recurrence:

$$s(2) = r(r-1), \ s(3) = r(r-1)(r-2),$$
  
 $s(n+2) = (r-2)s(n+1) + (r-1)s(n)$  for  $n \ge 2.$ 

Solving for the roots of the characteristic polynomial and using the initial conditions yields

$$s(n) = (r-1)^n + (r-1)(-1)^n.$$

Estimates in Theorem 5.2.2 show that the result of Theorem 5.2.6 is not far away from being sharp.

**Theorem 5.2.2** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). For an integer  $r \ge 3$  and an integer n large enough

$$C(T(n,r)) \le \left(\frac{e^2n}{r}\right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n.$$

Proof. Let  $V(T(n,r)) = V_1 \cup V_2 \cup \cdots \cup V_r$ , such that  $|V_1| \ge |V_2| \ge \cdots \ge |V_r|$  and for any  $i \ne j$ ,  $|(|V_i| - |V_j|)| \le 1$ . For any  $i \in [r]$  let  $V_i = \{v_1^i, v_2^i, \dots, v_{|V_i|}^i\}$ . Finally, let  $t = n - \lfloor \frac{n}{r} \rfloor \cdot r$ .

For  $3 \le k \le n$ , let  $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_k)$  be a sequence of symbols from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, \dots, r\}$  such that no two consecutive symbols are the same (k-th and 1-st symbols are also consecutive) and for any  $i \in [r]$  the symbol i appears at most  $|V_i|$  times in  $\mathbf{s}$ . For any  $i \in [k]$  let  $n_i$  be the number of times that a symbol  $s_i$  appears among

the first i symbols of s. For any  $i \in [r]$  let  $\pi^i$  be a permutation of  $[|V_i|]$ . Finally, let

$$C = \left(v_{\pi^{s_1}(n_1)}^{s_1}, v_{\pi^{s_2}(n_2)}^{s_2}, v_{\pi^{s_3}(n_3)}^{s_3}, \dots, v_{\pi^{s_{k-1}}(n_{k-1})}^{s_{k-1}}, v_{\pi^{s_k}(n_k)}^{s_k}, v_{\pi^{s_1}(n_1)}^{s_1}\right)$$

be the cycle of length k that arises from **s** and  $\pi^1, \pi^2, \ldots, \pi^r$ . Moreover, every cycle C of the length k arises from at least 2k different choices of **s**,  $\pi^1, \pi^2, \ldots, \pi^r$  (there are 2k ways to choose starting point and a direction on a cycle of length k, each choice corresponds to different collection of **s**,  $\pi^1, \pi^2, \ldots, \pi^r$ ). Therefore, the number of cycles of the length k in T(n,r) is at most the number of ways to choose **s**,  $\pi^1, \pi^2, \ldots, \pi^r$  divided by 2k, so is at most

$$\frac{1}{2k} \left( (r-1)^k + (r-1) \right) |V_1|! \cdot |V_2|! \cdots |V_r|! \\
= \frac{1}{2k} \left( (r-1)^k + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( \left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} \right\rfloor! \right)^{r-t} \cdot \left( \left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} + 1 \right\rfloor! \right)^t \\
< \frac{1}{2k} \left( (r-1)^k + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( e \left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} \right\rfloor^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \frac{\left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} \right\rfloor}{e} \right)^{\lfloor \frac{n}{r} \rfloor} \right)^{r-t} \cdot \left( e \left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} + 1 \right\rfloor^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \frac{\left\lfloor \frac{n}{r} + 1 \right\rfloor}{e} \right)^{\lfloor \frac{n}{r} + 1} \right)^t \\
\leq \frac{1}{2k} \left( (r-1)^k + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( e \left( \frac{n}{r} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \left( \frac{n}{er} \right)^n.$$

Therefore, the number of cycles in T(n, r) is at most

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=3}^n \frac{1}{2k} \left( (r-1)^k + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( e\left(\frac{n}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \left(\frac{n}{er}\right)^n \\ &\leq \sum_{k=3}^n \frac{1}{2n} \left( (r-1)^n + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( e\left(\frac{n}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \left(\frac{n}{er}\right)^n \\ &< \frac{1}{2} \left( (r-1)^n + (r-1) \right) \cdot \left( e\left(\frac{n}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \left(\frac{n}{er}\right)^n \\ &< (r-1)^n \cdot \left( e\left(\frac{n}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \left(\frac{n}{er}\right)^n \\ &= \left( e^2 \left(\frac{n}{r}\right) \right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \left( \frac{(r-1)n}{er} \right)^n . \end{split}$$

Let r be a positive integer. The following lemmas are used for the proof of Theorem 5.2.6.

**Lemma 5.2.3** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). Let m and k be integers with  $1 \le k \le \frac{m}{2}$ . Let  $a_{m,k}$  be the number of sequences of length m of symbols from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, \ldots, r\}$ , such that no two consecutive symbols are the same (m-th and 1-st symbols are also consecutive), and the symbol "1" appears precisely k times. Then

$$a_{m,k} = \binom{m-k}{k} (r-1)^k (r-2)^{m-2k},$$

and

$$a_{m,0} = (r-2)^m + (-1)^m (r-2).$$

*Proof.* Let S be the collection of sequences  $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_m)$ , such that for all  $i \in [m]$  $s_i \in [r], s_i \neq s_{i+1}$  (with  $s_{m+1} = s_1$ ) and there are exactly k indices  $i_1, i_2, \dots, i_k$ , such that for all  $j \in [k], s_{i_j} = 1$ .

Every element of S can be constructed in the following steps. First, choose the positions of "1"'s; namely choose a set  $S_1 = \{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_k : i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_k\} \subseteq S$  with the property that for all  $j_1, j_2 \in [k], |j_1 - j_2| > 1$  and m and 1 cannot both belong to  $S_1$ . There are  $\binom{m-k}{k}$  ways to choose such a set  $S_1$ . For all  $j \in S_1$  set  $s_j = 1$ .

Now, define all other values of  $s_j$  for  $j \in [m]/S_1$ . For an index  $\ell \in [k]$  consider the interval  $[s_{i_{\ell}} + 1, s_{i_{\ell+1}} - 1]$  with  $[s_{i_k} + 1, s_{i_1} - 1] = [s_{i_k} + 1, m] \cup [1, s_{i_1} - 1]$ . For the value of  $s_{i_{\ell}+1}$  there are (r-1) possibilities to choose from (since  $s_{i_{\ell}+1} \neq 1$ ); for the

value  $s_{i_{\ell}+2}$  there are (r-2) possibilities to choose from  $(s_{i_{\ell}+2} \neq s_{i_{\ell}+2} \text{ and } s_{i_{\ell}+2} \neq 1)$ ; for  $s_{i_{\ell}+3}$  there are (r-2) possibilities  $(s_{i_{\ell}+3} \neq s_{i_{\ell}+2} \text{ and } s_{i_{\ell}+3} \neq 1)$ ; similarly for all  $3 < j < i_{\ell+1-i_{\ell}}$ , for  $s_{i_{\ell}+j}$  there are (r-2) possibilities  $(s_{i_{\ell}+j} \neq s_{i_{\ell}+j-1} \text{ and } s_{i_{\ell}+j} \neq 1)$ . So, there are  $(r-1)(r-2)^{i_{\ell+1}-i_{\ell}-1}$  ways to choose the values of all of the  $s_j$  for  $j \in [s_{i_{\ell}}+1, s_{i_{\ell+1}}-1]$  (here I set  $i_{k+1}-i_k = m-i_k+i_1-1$ ). Hence, there are

$$\prod_{l=1}^{k} (r-1)(r-2)^{i_{\ell+1}-i_l-1} = (r-1)^k (r-2)^{m-2k}$$

ways to choose the values of  $s_j$  for  $j \in [m]/S_1$ . Finally,

$$|S| = \binom{m-k}{k} (r-1)^k (r-2)^{m-2k}.$$

Note, that according to the Lemma 5.2.3 and Lemma 5.2.1,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{m}{2}} a_{m,k} = (r-1)^m + (-1)^m (r-1).$$

**Lemma 5.2.4** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). Let r, m be integers, such that r > 2 and  $m > r^3$ . Let  $\frac{1}{r^2} > \epsilon > 0$  be such that  $m\epsilon$  is an integer and set  $c = 1 - \epsilon$ . Then there exist positive constants  $c_1(r), c_2(r)$ , such that

$$\sum_{k=\frac{m}{r}}^{\frac{cm}{2}} a_{cm,k} < c_1(r-1)^{cm} \sqrt{m} e^{-c_2 \epsilon^3 m}.$$

Proof. Let

$$S = \sum_{k=\frac{m}{r}}^{\frac{cm}{2}} a_{cm,k}.$$

Claim: For  $\frac{cm}{2} \ge k \ge \frac{m}{r}$  sequence  $a_{cm,k}$  is decreasing in k.

Proof of claim: Let  $k \ge \frac{m}{r}$ , then

$$\frac{a_{cm,k+1}}{a_{cm,k}} = \frac{\binom{cm-k-1}{k+1}(r-1)^{k+1}(r-2)^{cm-2k-2}}{\binom{cm-k}{k}(r-1)^k(r-2)^{cm-2k}}$$
$$= \frac{r-1}{(k+1)} / \frac{(cm-k)(r-2)^2}{(cm-2k)(cm-2k-1)}$$
$$= \frac{(cm-2k)(cm-2k-1)}{(k+1)(cm-k)} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(r-2)^2}.$$

The function  $f(x) = \frac{(cm-2x)(cm-2x-1)}{(x+1)(cm-x)}$  is decreasing on the interval  $\left[\frac{m}{r}, \frac{cm}{2}\right]$ , so

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{a_{cm,k+1}}{a_{cm,k}} &\leq \frac{a_{cm,\frac{m}{r}+1}}{a_{cm,\frac{m}{r}}} \\ &= \frac{(cm-2\frac{m}{r})(cm-2\frac{m}{r}-1)}{(\frac{m}{r}+1)(cm-\frac{m}{r})} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(r-2)^2} \\ &= \frac{(c-\frac{2}{r})(c-\frac{2}{r}-\frac{1}{m})}{(\frac{1}{r}+\frac{1}{m})(c-\frac{1}{r})} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(r-2)^2} \\ &= \frac{(cr-2)(cr-2-\frac{r}{m})}{(1+\frac{r}{m})(cr-1)} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(r-2)^2} \\ &= \frac{(r-2-\epsilon r)(r-2-\epsilon r-\frac{r}{m})}{(1+\frac{r}{m})(r-1-\epsilon r)} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(r-2)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

In order to verify that  $a_{cm,k}$  is decreasing it is sufficient to show

$$((r-2) - \epsilon r)\left((r-2) - \epsilon r - \frac{r}{m}\right)(r-1) \le \left(1 + \frac{r}{m}\right)((r-1) - \epsilon r)(r-2)^2.$$

After simplifying, the last inequality becomes

$$-2\epsilon r(r-1)(r-2) - \frac{r(r-1)(r-2)}{m} + \epsilon^2 r^2(r-1) + \frac{\epsilon r^2(r-1)}{m}$$
$$\leq -\epsilon r(r-2)^2 + \frac{r}{m}(r-1)(r-2)^2 - \frac{\epsilon r^2}{m}(r-2)^2.$$

Further this last inequality can be rewritten as

$$-\frac{r(r-1)(r-2)}{m} + \epsilon^2 r^2 (r-1) + \frac{\epsilon r^2 (r-1)}{m}$$
$$\leq \epsilon r^2 (r-2) + \frac{r}{m} (r-1)(r-2)^2 - \frac{\epsilon r^2}{m} (r-2)^2.$$

The left-hand side of the last inequality (using the assumptions r > 2,  $\epsilon < r^{-2}$ and  $m > r^3$ ) is at most  $0 + \epsilon(r-1) + \epsilon = r\epsilon$  and the right-hand side is at least  $\epsilon r^2(r-2) + 0 - \epsilon(r-2) = \epsilon(r+1)(r-1)(r-2)$ , which is greater than  $\epsilon r$ . This finishes the proof of the claim.

Hence, the sequence  $(a_{cm,k})_{m/r}^{cm/2}$  is decreasing in k and

$$\begin{split} S &= \sum_{k=\frac{m}{r}}^{\frac{m}{2}} a_{cm,k} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{cm}{2} - \frac{m}{r} + 1\right) a_{cm,\frac{m}{r}} \\ &= \left(\frac{cm}{2} - \frac{m}{r} + 1\right) \left(\frac{cm - \frac{m}{r}}{\frac{m}{r}}\right) (r-1)^{\frac{m}{r}} (r-2)^{cm-\frac{2m}{r}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{c}{2} - \frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{r}\right) m \frac{e\sqrt{cm - \frac{m}{r}} (cm - \frac{m}{r})^{cm - \frac{m}{r}} (r-1)^{\frac{m}{r}} (r-2)^{cm-\frac{2m}{r}} \\ &\leq \frac{e\sqrt{2r}}{4\pi} \sqrt{m} \frac{(cm - \frac{m}{r})^{cm - \frac{m}{r}} (r-1)^{\frac{m}{r}} \sqrt{2\pi} \sqrt{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} (cm - \frac{2m}{r})^{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} \\ &\leq \frac{e\sqrt{2r}}{4\pi} \sqrt{m} \frac{(cm - \frac{m}{r})^{cm - \frac{m}{r}} (r-1)^{\frac{m}{r}} (r-2)^{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} \\ &= c_1(r) \sqrt{m} \frac{(c - \frac{1}{r})^{(c - \frac{1}{r})m} (r-1)^{\frac{m}{r}} (r-2)^{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} \\ &= c_1(r) \sqrt{m} (r-1)^{cm} \frac{(cr - 1)^{(c - \frac{1}{r})m} (r-2)^{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} \\ &= c_1(r) \sqrt{m} (r-1)^{cm} \frac{(cr - 1)^{(c - \frac{1}{r})m} (r-2)^{cm - \frac{2m}{r}} \\ &= c_1(r) \sqrt{m} (r-1)^{cm} \left(\frac{cr - 1}{r-1}\right)^{\frac{cr - 2}{r}m} \left(\frac{r-2}{cr - 2}\right)^{\frac{cr - 2}{r}m} . \end{split}$$

To finish the proof, it is sufficient to show that for some positive constant  $c_2(r)$ ,

$$\left(\frac{cr-1}{r-1}\right)^{\frac{cr-1}{r}m} \left(\frac{r-2}{cr-2}\right)^{\frac{cr-2}{r}m} \le e^{-\epsilon^3 c_2(r)m}.$$
(5.1)

Taking logarithms of both sides of the inequality (5.1), using the fact that  $c = 1 - \epsilon$ , and applying the inequality  $-x - x^2(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2(r-1)}) \leq \ln(1-x) \leq -x - \frac{x^2}{2}$  for  $x < \frac{1}{r^4}$  yields

$$\frac{cr-1}{r}m\ln\left(\frac{cr-1}{r-1}\right) - \frac{cr-2}{r}m\ln\left(\frac{cr-2}{r-2}\right) = \left(1-\epsilon-\frac{1}{r}\right)m\ln\left(1-\frac{\epsilon r}{r-1}\right) - \left(1-\epsilon-\frac{2}{r}\right)m\ln\left(1-\frac{\epsilon r}{r-2}\right) \leq m\left(1-\epsilon-\frac{1}{r}\right)\left(-\frac{\epsilon r}{r-1} - \frac{\epsilon^2 r^2}{(r-1)^2}\right) - m\left(1-\epsilon-\frac{2}{r}\right)\left(-\frac{\epsilon r}{r-2} - \frac{\epsilon^2 r^2}{(r-2)^2} - \frac{\epsilon^2 r^2}{2(r-1)(r-2)^2}\right) = -\epsilon^3 m\left(\frac{r^2}{2(r-1)^2(r-2)^2}\right)\left(2r-3-\frac{1}{r-1}\right) = -\epsilon^3 c_2(r)m.$$

This finishes the proof of inequality (5.1) and the lemma.

**Lemma 5.2.5** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). Let r, t be integers and let n = rt. Let s(n, t) be the number of sequences of the length n of symbols from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, ..., r\}$  such that no two consecutive symbols are the same (n-th and 1-st symbols are also consecutive) and the number of times that every symbol appears is exactly t. Then there is a constant c = c(r), such that for n large enough

$$s(n,t) \ge c \frac{(r-1)^n}{(n)^{\frac{2}{3}r^2+1}}.$$

*Proof.* Let m be an integer,  $\frac{1}{r^2} > \epsilon \sim \ln m/m^{\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $c = 1 - \epsilon$  be such that t = cm - 1.

Consider the set  $S_1$  of the sequences of length cm from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, \ldots, r\}$ such that every symbol appears at most  $\frac{m}{r}$  times and any two consecutive elements are different. By Lemma 5.2.4, the number of such sequences, when m is large enough, is at least

$$(r-1)^{cm} - (r-1) - rc_1(r-1)^{cm}\sqrt{m}e^{-c_2\epsilon^3 m} = (1-o(1))(r-1)^{cm}.$$

By the pigeonhole principle (PHP), there are  $i, j \in [r]$ , such that  $i \neq j$  and the number of sequences from  $S_1$  that start with i and end at j is at least

$$\frac{1}{r(r-1)}(1-o(1))(r-1)^{cm}.$$

Without loss of generality, assume that i = 1 and j = 2. Set  $S_2 \subset S_1$  to be the set of all sequences from  $S_1$  that start with "1" and end with "2".

If  $s \in S_2$ , then the number of times that any symbol from the alphabet appears is at least  $cm - (r-1)\frac{m}{r} = (\frac{1}{r} - \epsilon)m$  and at most  $\frac{m}{r}$ . By the PHP, there is a sequence  $n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_r$ , such that for each  $i \in [r]$ ,  $(\frac{1}{r} - \epsilon)m \leq n_i \leq \frac{m}{r}$ , and  $\sum_{i=1}^r n_i = cm$ , and the number of sequences  $\mathbf{s} \in S_2$  such that for each  $i \in [r]$  the number of times that symbol "i" appears in  $\mathbf{s}$  is  $n_i$  is at least

$$\frac{|S_2|}{(\epsilon m+1)^r} \ge (1-o(1))\frac{1}{r(r-1)}\frac{(r-1)^{cm}}{(\epsilon m)^r}.$$

Let  $S_3 \subseteq S_2$  be all sequences **s** from  $S_2$  such that for each  $i \in [r]$  the number of times that symbol "i" appears in **s** is  $n_i$ .

Let S be a set of sequences of length n from the alphabet [r] such that any two consecutive symbols are different and every symbol appears exactly  $t = \frac{n}{r}$  times. Let  $\pi$  be permutation of [r] that takes all elements to its successor and takes r to 1. For an  $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_{cm}) \in S_3$  define  $\pi(\mathbf{s}) = (\pi(s_1), \pi(s_2), \ldots, \pi(s_{cm}))$ . Let  $\mathbf{s}_1, \mathbf{s}_2, \ldots, \mathbf{s}_r \in S_3$ . For all  $i \in [r]$  let  $\mathbf{c}_i = \pi^{(i-1)}(\mathbf{s}_i)$ , and let  $\mathbf{s}'_i$  to be  $\mathbf{c}_i$  minus its last element. Let permutations  $\mathbf{s} \in S$  be  $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}'_1 \mathbf{s}'_2 \ldots \mathbf{s}'_r$ . Note that every symbol from the alphabet appears exactly  $n_1 + n_2 + \cdots + n_r - 1 = cm - 1 = t$  times and every two consecutive elements are different.

The map  $(\mathbf{s}_1, \mathbf{s}_2, \dots, \mathbf{s}_r) \to \mathbf{s}$  is a 1-1 map from  $S_3^r$  to S. Hence,

$$S| = s(n, t)$$

$$\geq |S_3|^r$$

$$\geq \left( (1 - o(1)) \frac{1}{r(r-1)} \frac{(r-1)^{cm}}{(\epsilon m)^r} \right)^r$$

$$\geq (1 - o(1))^r \frac{1}{r^r} \frac{(r-1)^n}{(\epsilon m)^{r^2}}$$

$$\geq \left( (1 - o(1)) \frac{1}{r(r-1)} \frac{(r-1)^{cm}}{(\epsilon m)^r} \right)^r$$

$$\geq c \frac{(r-1)^n}{(n)^{\frac{2}{3}r^2+1}}.$$

0	1
0	4

н		
н		

**Theorem 5.2.6** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). Let r be a positive integer, then there is constant c = c(r), such that for n large enough

$$C(T(n,r)) \ge \frac{c}{n^{\frac{2}{3}r^2 - \frac{r}{2} + 1}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n.$$

*Proof.* The proof follows the lines of the proof given for Theorem 5.2.2.

Let  $m = r \lfloor \frac{n}{r} \rfloor$ . Let  $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_m)$  be a sequence of length m of symbols from the alphabet  $\{1, 2, \dots, r\}$ , such that no two consecutive symbols are the same (m-th and 1-st symbols are also consecutive) and for any  $i \in [r]$  the symbol i appears exactly  $\frac{m}{r}$  times in  $\mathbf{s}$ . For any  $i \in [k]$  let  $n_i$  be the number of times symbol  $s_i$  appears among the first i symbols of  $\mathbf{s}$ . For any  $i \in [r]$  let  $\pi^i$  be a permutation of  $[|V_i|]$ . Finally, let

$$C = (v_{\pi^{s_1}(n_1)}^{s_1}, v_{\pi^{s_2}(n_2)}^{s_2}, v_{\pi^{s_3}(n_3)}^{s_3}, \dots, v_{\pi^{s_{k-1}}(n_{k-1})}^{s_{k-1}}, v_{\pi^{s_k}(n_k)}^{s_k}, v_{\pi^{s_1}(n_1)}^{s_1})$$

be the cycle of length m arising from  $\mathbf{s}, \pi^1, \pi^2, \ldots, \pi^r$ . The map  $(\mathbf{s}, \pi^1, \ldots, \pi^r) \to C$ is 1-1. Therefore, by Lemma 5.2.5, the number of cycles in T(n, r) is at least

$$T(n,r) \ge c_1 \frac{(r-1)^m}{(m)^{\frac{2}{3}r^2+1}} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^r |V_i|!$$
  
$$\ge c_2 \frac{(r-1)^n}{(n)^{\frac{2}{3}r^2+1}} \cdot \left(\sqrt{2\pi} \left(\frac{n}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)^r \left(\frac{n}{er}\right)^n$$
  
$$\ge \frac{c}{(n)^{\frac{2}{3}r^2-\frac{r}{2}+1}} \left(\frac{(r-1)n}{er}\right)^n.$$

#### 5.3 Maximum number of cycles in a $K_r$ -free graph

The main result in this section is Theorem 5.3.2. Lemma 4.3.1 is proved in Section 4.3 and here I restate it for convenience.

Lemma 4.3.1 (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]) Let G be a multigraph with n vertices. For any  $\ell \in [n]$ , and any vertices  $v_1, \ldots, v_\ell \in V(G)$ , define  $F(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell) =$  $N(v_\ell) \setminus \{v_1, \ldots, v_{\ell-1}\}$  and define  $f(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell) = \max\{\deg_{G \setminus \{v_2, \ldots, v_{\ell-1}\}}(v_\ell), 1\}$ . Denote the number of cycles in G that contain the path  $v_1 e_1 v_2 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell$  by  $C(v_1 e_1 v_2 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell)$ (note that  $C(v_1)$  is the number of cycles containing the vertex  $v_1$ ). For brevity, write  $F_\ell = F(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell), f_\ell = f(v_1, \ldots, v_\ell), C_\ell = C(v_1 e_1 \ldots e_{\ell-1} v_\ell)$ . For a  $k \in [n]$ , let  $v_1 e_1 v_2 e_2 \ldots v_k$  be a path in G. If  $F_k \neq \emptyset$ , then

$$C_k \leq f_k \cdot \max_{\substack{k+1 \leq t \leq n \\ v_{k+1} \in F_k \\ \vdots \\ v_t \in F_{t-1}}} \{f_{k+1} \cdot f_{k+2} \cdots f_t\}.$$

(the maximum is taken over all paths  $v_{k+1} \dots v_t$ , such that  $v_1 \dots v_k e_k v_{k+1} \dots v_t$  extends  $v_1 \dots v_k$ )

Theorem 4.4.2 is also proved in Section 4.4 and here I restate it for convenience. **Theorem 4.4.2** (Arman-Tsaturian, 2017<sup>+</sup> [9]) Let G be a multigraph with  $n \ge 2$ vertices and m edges.

If  $\frac{m}{n-1} < 3$ , then

$$C(G) < \frac{3}{4}\Delta(G) \cdot (\sqrt[3]{3})^m$$

If 
$$\frac{m}{n-1} \ge 3$$
, and  $\lfloor \frac{m}{n-1} \rfloor = s$ ,  $\alpha = \frac{m}{n-1} - s$ , then  

$$C(G) < \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) (s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{n-1} = \frac{3}{4} \Delta(G) ((s^{1-\alpha}(s+1)^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{s+\alpha}})^m.$$

Also, the following lemma is used for the proof of the main result of this section, Theorem 5.3.2.

**Lemma 5.3.1** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). Let r and n be positive integers such that  $n \ge 2r + 4$ . Then,

$$\prod_{k=0}^{n} \left( k+2 - \left\lceil \frac{k+2}{r} \right\rceil \right) \le \frac{e^2}{\sqrt{r}} n^2 \left( \frac{n(r-1)}{re} \right)^n.$$

*Proof.* Let  $m + 1 = n - (n \mod r)$ , then

$$\begin{split} \prod_{k=0}^{m} \left(k+2 - \left\lceil \frac{k+2}{r} \right\rceil\right) &= \left(m+1 - \frac{m+1}{r}\right)! (r-1)(2r-2) \cdots \left(\frac{m+1}{r}(r-1)\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{(r-1)(m+1)}{r}\right)! (r-1)^{\frac{m+1}{r}} \left(\frac{m+1}{r}\right)! \\ &= S. \end{split}$$

Using the upper bound of factorial (inequalities (2.2)),

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{k=0}^{n} \left(k+2 - \left\lceil \frac{k+2}{r} \right\rceil \right) = S \cdot \prod_{k=m+1}^{n} \left(k+2 - \left\lceil \frac{k+2}{r} \right\rceil \right) \\ &\leq S \cdot n^{n-m} \\ &\leq \frac{e^2(m+1)}{\sqrt{r}} \left(\frac{(r-1)(m+1)}{re}\right)^{\frac{(r-1)(m+1)}{r}} (r-1)^{\frac{m+1}{r}} \left(\frac{m+1}{re}\right)^{\frac{m+1}{r}} n^{n-m} \\ &\leq \frac{e^2(n)}{\sqrt{r}} \left(\frac{(r-1)(n)}{re}\right)^{\frac{(r-1)(m+1)}{r}} (r-1)^{\frac{m+1}{r}} \left(\frac{n}{re}\right)^{\frac{m+1}{r}} n^{n-m} \\ &\leq \frac{e^2n^2}{\sqrt{r}} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{re}\right)^n. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 5.3.2** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). For any integer  $r \ge 2$  there exists a number  $n_0$ , such that any  $K_{r+1}$ -free graph G with  $n \ge n_0$  vertices and  $m \le t(n,r) - 2r^4 n \log n$  edges has fewer cycles than T(n,r).

*Proof.* Let G be a  $K_{r+1}$ -free graph on n vertices and with m edges. If the graph G has average degree less then  $\frac{n(r-1)}{er}$ , then Theorem 4.4.2 implies that G has at most

$$3n\left(\frac{n(r-1)}{2er}\right)^n$$

cycles, which is smaller than the number of cycles in a T(n, r). Hence, assume that the graph G has average degree at least  $\frac{n(r-1)}{er}$ .

Let  $v_1$  be a vertex of G. Let  $C(v_1)$  be the number of cycles in G that contain  $v_1$ . Then,

$$C(v_{1}) \leq f_{1} \cdot \max_{\substack{2 \leq t \leq n \\ v_{2} \in F_{1} \\ \vdots \\ v_{t} \in F_{t-1}}} \{f_{2} \cdot f_{3} \cdots f_{t}\}.$$
(5.2)

Let the path  $v_1v_2...v_t$  be the one that gives the maximum in the right hand side of the inequality (5.2). According to the definition of sets  $F_i$  and the fact that any subgraph of G is  $K_{r+1}$ -free, for any  $k \ge 0$ ,

$$f_{t-k} + f_{t-k+1} + f_{t-k+2} + \dots + f_t \le e(G \setminus \{v_2, v_3, v_4, \dots, v_{t-k-1}\}) \le t(n+k-t+2, r).$$

Set

$$S = \{(f_2, f_3, \dots, f_t) | \forall t - 2 \ge k \ge 0 : f_{t-k} + \dots + f_t \le \max\{t(n+k-t+2, r), m\}\}$$

Hence,

$$C_{1} \leq f_{1} \cdot \max_{\substack{2 \leq t \leq n \\ v_{2} \in F_{1} \\ \vdots \\ v_{t} \in F_{t-1}}} \{f_{2} \cdot f_{3} \cdots f_{t}\}$$

$$\leq f_{1} \cdot \max_{(f_{2}, \cdots, f_{t}) \in S} \{f_{2} \cdot f_{3} \cdots f_{t}\}.$$
(5.3)

Let  $(f_2, f_3, \ldots, f_t) \in S$  be the sequence that gives the maximum in (5.3). Note that t = n, otherwise splitting one of the  $f_i$  into 2 and  $f_i - 2$  increases the product. Let  $k_0 \leq n$  be the largest number such that

$$f_{n-k_0} + f_{n-k_0+1} + \dots + f_n = t(k_0+2, r).$$

Also assume that  $(f_2, f_3, \ldots, f_n) \in S$  is the sequence that gives the maximum in (5.3) and has the largest possible  $k_0$ . Then

$$f_{n-k_0} = t(k_0 + 2, r) - t(k_0 + 1, r).$$

For any  $\ell$ , the difference between the number of edges in  $T(\ell + 1, r)$  and  $T(\ell, r)$ is equal to the minimal degree of  $T(\ell + 1, r)$ , so (using  $\delta(G)$  for the minimal degree of G)

$$f_{n-k_0} = \delta(T(k_0+2,r)) = k_0 + 2 - \left\lceil \frac{k_0+2}{r} \right\rceil$$

With the same arguments,

$$f_{n-k_0-1} + f_{n-k_0} + \dots + f_n \le t(k_0+3,r) - 1$$

implies

$$f_{n-k_0-1} \le t(k_0+3,r) - 1 - t(k_0+2,r),$$

and

$$f_{n-k_0-1} \le \delta(T(k_0+3,r)) - 1 = k_0 + 3 - \left\lceil \frac{k_0+3}{r} \right\rceil - 1 = k_0 + 2 - \left\lceil \frac{k_0+3}{r} \right\rceil.$$

Note that  $f_{n-k_0-1} \leq f_{n-k_0}$ . If  $f_{n-k_0} - f_{n-k_0-1} \geq 2$ , then increasing  $f_{n-k_0-1}$  by 1 and decreasing  $f_{n-k_0}$  by 1 results in the sequence  $(f'_2, \ldots, f'_n) \in S$  that has a larger product. Hence,

$$0 \le f_{n-k_0} - f_{n-k_0-1} \le 1.$$

If there is a  $k > k_0 + 1$ , such that  $f_{n-k} - f_{n-k_0-1} > 1$ , then decreasing  $f_{n-k}$  by 1 and increasing  $f_{n-k_0-1}$  by 1 results in the sequence  $(f'_2, \ldots, f'_n) \in S$  that has a larger product.

If there is a  $k > k_0$ , such that  $f_{n-k} - f_{n-k_0} < -1$ , then increasing  $f_{n-k}$  by 1 and decreasing  $f_{n-k_0}$  by 1 results in the sequence  $(f'_2, \ldots, f'_n) \in S$  that has a larger product.

Finally, if there is  $k > k_0 + 1$  such that  $f_{n-k_0} + 1 = f_{n-k}$ , then  $f_{n-k_0-1} = f_{n-k_0}$  and decreasing  $f_{n-k}$  by 1 and increasing  $f_{n-k_0-1}$  by 1 results in the sequence  $(f'_2, \ldots, f'_n) \in$ S with the same product but larger  $k_0$ .

Hence, the sequence  $(f_2, \ldots, f_n)$  satisfies the following conditions:

- For all  $k \leq k_0 f_{n-k} + f_{n-k+1} + \dots + f_n = t(k+2,r)$ . This can be alternatively rewritten as  $f_{n-k} = k + 2 - \left\lceil \frac{k+2}{r} \right\rceil$ .
- For all  $k > k_0, -1 \le f_{n-k} f_{n-k_0} \le 0$ .

Moreover,

$$m \ge \sum_{i=2}^{n} f_i$$
  
=  $\sum_{k=0}^{k_0} f_{n-k} + \sum_{k=k_0+1}^{n-2} f_{n-k}$   
 $\ge t(k_0+2,r) + (n-2-k_0)(f_{n-k_0}-1)$   
 $\ge (k_0+2)^2 \left(\frac{r-1}{2r}\right) - \frac{r}{2} + (n-2-k_0) \left(k_0+1 - \left\lceil \frac{k_0+2}{r} \right\rceil\right).$ 

Set  $k_0 = \delta n$ , with  $\delta < 1$ . Then the last inequality implies

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{n^2}{2} \left(\frac{r-1}{r}\right) &- 2r^4 n \log n \ge m \ge (\delta n+2)^2 \left(\frac{r-1}{2r}\right) - \frac{r}{2} \\ &+ (n-2-\delta n) \left(\delta n+1 - \left(\frac{\delta n+2}{r}+1\right)\right). \end{aligned}$$

Dividing by  $n(\frac{r-1}{2r})$  and simplifying the left-hand side and the right-hand side of the last inequality gives

$$n - 2r^4 \frac{2r}{r-1} \ln n \ge (2\delta - \delta^2)n - (1-\delta)\frac{4}{r-1} + \frac{1}{n} \left(4 - \frac{r^2}{r-1} + \frac{8}{r-1}\right).$$

Provided that n is large enough, the last inequality implies

$$n - 2r^4 \frac{r}{r-1} \ln n \ge (2\delta - \delta^2)n.$$

After setting  $\delta = 1 - x$ , the last inequality implies

$$\begin{split} n &- 2r^4 \frac{r}{r-1} \log n \ge (1-x^2)n \\ \Leftrightarrow &- 2r^4 \frac{r}{r-1} \log n \ge -x^2n \\ \Leftrightarrow x \ge \sqrt{\frac{2r}{r-1}r^4 \frac{\log n}{n}} \\ \Rightarrow x \ge r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}. \end{split}$$

So  $k_0 = \delta n$ , with  $\delta \le 1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}$ .

Hence, the following holds:

$$f_{2} \cdots f_{n} \leq (f_{n-k_{0}})^{n-2-k_{0}} \prod_{k=0}^{k_{0}} \left(k+2-\left\lceil\frac{k+2}{r}\right\rceil\right)$$

$$= \left(k_{0}+2-\left\lceil\frac{k_{0}+2}{r}\right\rceil\right)^{n-2-k_{0}} \prod_{k=0}^{k_{0}} \left(k+2-\left\lceil\frac{k+2}{r}\right\rceil\right)$$

$$\leq \left(k_{0}+2-\left\lceil\frac{k_{0}+2}{r}\right\rceil\right)^{n-2-k_{0}} c_{1}(k_{0})^{2} \left(\frac{k_{0}(r-1)}{re}\right)^{k_{0}}$$

$$\leq \left(\delta n+2-\frac{\delta n+2}{r}\right)^{n-2-\delta n} c_{1}(\delta n)^{2} \left(\frac{\delta n(r-1)}{re}\right)^{\delta n}$$

$$\leq c_{1}(\delta n)^{2} \left(\frac{r-1}{r}\right)^{n-2} (\delta n+2)^{n-2-\delta n} \left(\frac{\delta n}{e}\right)^{\delta n}$$

$$\leq c_{1}(\delta n)^{2} \left(\frac{r-1}{r}\right)^{n-2} (\delta n)^{n-2} \left(1+\frac{2}{\delta n}\right)^{n-2-\delta n} e^{-\delta n}$$

$$\leq c_{2} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{r}\right)^{n} (\delta)^{n} \left(e^{\frac{2}{\delta n}}\right)^{n-2-\delta n} e^{-\delta n}$$

$$\leq c_{3} \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^{n} \left(\delta e^{\frac{2}{\delta n}-\delta+1}\right)^{n}.$$

There are two cases to consider.

Case 1:  $\delta \leq \frac{3}{n}$ .

Since  $\delta n = k_0$  and  $k_0$  is positive integer, there are three possibilities for the value of delta:  $\delta = \frac{1}{n}, \ \delta = \frac{2}{n}$  and  $\delta = \frac{3}{n}$ . In all of this cases

$$f_2 \cdots f_n \le c_3 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\delta e^{\frac{2}{\delta n} - \delta + 1}\right)^n$$
$$\le c_3 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{3e^3}{n}\right)^n.$$

Recall that  $C(v_1)$  is the number of cycles through a vertex  $v_1$ , then

$$C(v_1) \le c_3 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{3e^3}{n}\right)^n \le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{n^{r^4}}\right).$$

Case 2:  $\delta \ge \frac{4}{n}$ .

Recall that  $\delta = 1 - x \le 1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}$ , so  $\delta \in (\frac{4}{n}, 1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}})$ . For these values

of  $\delta$  the function  $f(\delta)=\delta e^{1+\frac{2}{\delta n}-\delta}$  is increasing, so

$$C(v_1) \leq c_3 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\delta e^{\frac{2}{\delta n} - \delta + 1}\right)^n$$
  
$$\leq c_3 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\left(1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}\right) e^{r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}}\right)^n e^{\frac{2}{1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}}}$$
  
$$\leq c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\left(1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}\right) e^{r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}}\right)^n.$$

For all positive x,  $(1-x)e^x \le 1 - \frac{x^2}{2}$ , so

$$C(v_1) \le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\left(1 - r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}\right) e^{r^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\log n}{n}}}\right)^n$$
$$\le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(1 - r^4 \frac{\log n}{n}\right)^n$$
$$\le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(e^{-r^4 \frac{\log n}{n}}\right)^n$$
$$\le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n (n)^{-r^4}$$
$$\le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{n^{r^4}}\right).$$

In both cases

$$C(v_1) \le c_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{n^{r^4}}\right).$$

So, by Theorem 5.2.6,

$$C(G) \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} C(v_k)$$
  
$$\leq nc_4 \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{n^{r^4}}\right)$$
  
$$\leq c_4 \left(\frac{1}{n^{r^4-1}}\right) \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n$$
  
$$\leq \frac{c_4}{n} \left(\frac{1}{n^{\frac{2}{3}r^2 - \frac{r}{2} + 1}}\right) \left(\frac{n(r-1)}{er}\right)^n \leq C(T(n,r)).$$

		•	

#### 5.4 Concluding remarks

It seems that to improve the result of Theorem 5.3.2, a new version of Lemma 4.3.1 is needed. Indeed, it is easy to verify that if Lemma 4.3.1 gives a tight bound for the number of cycles, then Theorem 5.3.2 provides a tight bound for the number of cycles in a Turán graph, which is possible, but I think is quite unlikely.

It is quite possible that with some effort one can prove a version of Theorem 5.3.2 for H-free graphs, where H is an edge-critical graph:

**Theorem 5.4.1** (Arman, 2017<sup>+</sup> [8]). For any graph H with a critical edge and the chromatic number r + 1 there exists a number  $n_0$ , such that any H-free graph G with  $n \ge n_0$  vertices and  $m \le t(n, r) - 2r^4n \ln n$  edges has fewer cycles than T(n, r).

Note, that a form of this theorem is claimed to be correct by Alex Scott [41].

## Chapter 6

## Future work and extensions

Dr. Robert Craigen [18] mentioned to me that the question of determining the minimum number of cycles in a graph is also interesting. I have not studied this question thoroughly, but based on my intuition, I conjecture that for a fixed d the minimum number of cycles in a graph G on n vertices and with density d is obtained for a graph, obtained from a tree by identifying each vertex with a vertex of some clique.

It seems that the number of cycles in a Turán graph T(n, r) is not determined precisely for  $r \ge 3$ . For  $r \ge 4$ , it is not even known what is the exact number of hamiltonian cycles in T(n, r). The number of hamiltonian cycles in T(n, 2), the number of cycles in T(n, 2) and the asymptotic order of the number of cycles in T(n, 2)is determined by myself, Gunderson and Tsaturian [10]. The formulas (that involve summation) for the number of cycles in T(n, 3) and T(n, 4) are given by Vrba [50]. Also, a recursive formula for the number of hamiltonian cycles in T(n, r) was given by Horák and Továrek [28] in 1979. An interesting and maybe easy problem, in my opinion, is to find the asymptotical order of the number of cycles in T(n, r) for fixed r and n tending to infinity.

## Bibliography

- [1] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun (eds.), "Modified Bessel functions I and K", §9.6 (pp. 374–377) in Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, 9th printing, Dover, New York, 1972.
- [2] W. Ahrens, Über das Gleichungssystem einer Kirchhoffschen galvanischen Stromverzweigung, Math. Ann. 49 (1897), 311–324.
- [3] R. E. L. Aldred and C. Thomassen, On the number of cycles in 3-connected cubic graphs, J.
   Combin. Theory Ser. B 71 (1997), 79–84.
- [4] R. E. L. Aldred and C. Thomassen, On maximum number of cycles in a planar graph, J. Graph Theory 57 (2008), 255–264.
- [5] H. Alt, U. Fuchs, and K. Kriegel, On the number of simple cycles in planar graphs, Combin.
   Prob. Comput. 8 (1999), 397–405.
- [6] B. Andrásfai, Graphentheoretische Extremalprobleme, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 15 (1964), 413–418.
- [7] B. Andrásfai, P. Erdős, and V. T. Sós, On the connection between chromatic number, maximal clique and minimal degree of a graph, *Discrete Math.* 8 (1974), 205–218.
- [8] A. Arman, The maximal number of cycles in a  $K_r$ -free graph, manuscript, latest edition May 2017.

- [9] A. Arman and S. Tsaturian, The maximum number of cycles in a graph with fixed number of edges, arXiv:1702.02662, submitted 9 February 2017, accessed 11 November 2017.
- [10] A. Arman, D. Gunderson, and S. Tsaturian, Triangle-free graphs with the maximum number of cycles, *Discrete Math.* **339** (2016), 699–711.
- [11] P. Balister, B. Bollobás, O. Riordan, and R. H. Schelp, Graphs with large maximum degree containing no odd cycles of a given length, J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 87 (2003), 366–373.
- [12] G.D. Birkhoff and D.C. Lewis, Chromatic polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 60 (1946), 355-451.
- [13] B. Bollobás, Extremal graph theory, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 2004, reprint of the 1978 original.
- [14] B. Bollobás, Modern graph theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol.184, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [15] P. Bose, P. Carmi, S. Durocher, Bounding the locality of distributed routing algorithms, *Distributed Computing* 26 (2013), 39–58.
- [16] K. Buchin, C. Knauer, K. Kriegel, A. Schulz, and R. Seidel, On the number of cycles in planar graphs, *Proceedings of COCOON, Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci.* 4598 (2007), 97–107.
- [17] G. L. Chia and C. Thomassen, On the number of longest and almost longest cycles in cubic graphs, Ars Combin. 104 (2012), 307–320.
- [18] R. Craigen, personal communication, 25 November 2016.
- [19] A. de Mier and M. Noy, On the maximum number of cycles in outerplanar and series-parallel graphs, Graphs Combin. 28 (2012), 265–275. [See also Sixth conference on Discrete Mathematics and Computer Science (Spanish), 295–302, Univ. Lleida, Lleida, 2008, and extended abstract from EuroComb 2009, Electronic Notes in Discrete Mathematics 34 (2009), 489–493.]

- [20] S. Durocher, D. S. Gunderson, P. C. Li, and M. Skala, Cycle-maximal triangle-free graphs, Discrete Math. 338 (2015), 274–290.
- [21] R. C. Entringer and P. J. Slater, On the maximum number of cycles in a graph, Ars Combin.
   11 (1981), 289–294.
- [22] H. Fredericksen, Asymptotic behavior of Golomb's Z(n) conjecture, IEEE Trans. Information Theory IT-16 (1970), 509–510.
- [23] R. Glebov and M.Krivelevich, On the number of Hamilton cycles in sparse random graphs, SIAM J. Discrete Math. 27 (2013), 27–42.
- [24] D. R. Guichard, The maximum number of cycles in a graph, Proc. of the 27th SE Int'l CCGTC (Baton Rouge, 1996), Congr. Numer. 121 (1996), 211–215.
- [25] K. Gunderson, personal communication, February 2016.
- [26] S. H. Guo and Y. B. ShiThe maximum number of cycles in a Hamiltonian graph (Chinese, English summary) Shanghai Shifan Daxue Xuegao Ziran Kexue Ban 22 (1993), 18–24.
- [27] F. Harary and B. Manvel, On the number of cycles in a graph, Matematicky Casopis Sloven. Akad. Vied. 21 (1971), 55–63.
- [28] P. Horák and L. Továrek, On Hamiltonian cycles of complete n-partite graphs, Math. Slovaca 29 (1979), 43–47 (English, with Russian summary).
- [29] F. C. Holroyd and W. J. G. Wingate, Cycles in the complement of a tree or other graph, Discrete Math. 55 (1985), 267–282.
- [30] Z. Király, Maximum number of cycles and hamiltonian cycles in sparse graphs, 2009, EGRES technical report No. 2009-03, https://www.cs.elte.hu/egres/tr/egres-09-03.pdf, accessed 11 November 2017.

- [31] G. Kirchoff, Über die Auflösung der Gleichungen, auf welche man bei der Untersuchung der linearen Verteilung galvanisher Ströme geführt wird, Annalen der Physik und Chimie 72 (1847), 497–508.
- [32] M. Knor, On the number of cycles in k-connected graphs, Acta Math. Univ. Comenian. 63 (1994), 315–321.
- [33] D. König, Theory of finite and infinite graphs, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1990, translated from the German by Richard McCoart (original 1935).
- [34] W. Mantel, Solution to Problem 28, by H. Gouwentak, W. Mantel, J. Teixeira de Mattes, F. Schuh, and W. A. Wythoff, Wiskundige Opgaven 10 (1907), 60–61.
- [35] P. Mateti and N. Deo, On algorithms for enumerating all circuits of a graph, SIAM J. Comput.
  5 (1976), 90–99.
- [36] K. Markström, Extremal graphs for some problems on cycles in graphs, Congressus Numerantium 171 (2004), 179–192.
- [37] S. N. Perepechko and A. N. Voropaev, The number of fixed length cycles in an undirected graph. Explicit formulae in case of small lengths, *Bulletin of PFUR. Series Mathematics, Information Sciences, Physics* 2 (2012), 5–14.
- [38] D. Rautenbach and I. Stella, On the maximum number of cycles in a Hamiltoian graph, Discrete Math. 304 (2005), 101–107.
- [39] K. B. Reid, Jrl, Discrete Math. 15 (1976), 163–174.
- [40] H. Robbins, A remark on Stirling's formula, Amer. Math. Monthly 62 (1955), 26–29.
- [41] A. Scott, email communication, 14 January 2014.
- [42] Y. Shi, The number of cycles in a Hamilton graph, Discrete Math. 133 (1994), 249–257.
- [43] M. Simonovits, On colour-critical graphs, Studia Sci. Math. Hungar. 7 (1972), 67–81.
- [44] M. Simonovits, personal communication with D.Gunderson, July 2014, Renyi institute.
- [45] M. Skala, email to D.Gunderson, 16 January 2015.
- [46] E. Szemerédi, On sets of integers containing no k elements in arithmetic progression, Acta Arith. 27 (1975), 199–245, Collection of articles in memory of Juriĭ Vladimirovič Linnik.
- [47] L. Takács, On the limit distribution of the number of cycles in a random graph, Journal of Applied Probability 25 (1988), 359–376.
- [48] R. H. Teunter and E. S. van der Poort, The maximum number of Hamiltonian cycles in graphs with a fixed number of vertices and edges, *Oper. Res. Lett.* 26 (2000), 91–98.
- [49] L. Volkmann, Estimations for the number of cycles in a graph, Period. Math. Hungar. 33 (1996), 153–161.
- [50] A. Vrba, Counting hamiltonian circuits, Graphs, hypergraphs and block systems. Proc. Symp. Zielona Góra (1976), 57-68.
- [51] B. Zhou, The maximum number of cycles in the complement of a tree, *Discrete Math.* 69 (1988), 85–94.